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Temiscaming Energy Project

The Company completed the $273 million energy project in early 
fiscal 2015 and started the unit in January 2015. The Hydro-Québec 
commercial-in-service test was completed very quickly in 
the first month of operation, which qualified the Company to 
receive the contracted payment rate for electricity produced.  
The overall start-up and optimization of the boiler, turbine and 
related equipment continued throughout the balance of the  
fiscal year.

The energy project will provide benefits in three areas:
 1. Reduction in energy costs
 2. Pulp mill productivity improvements
 3. Reduction in operating costs

We are pleased to report that these benefits are now being 
achieved and will significantly impact the financial results of the 
Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment going forward.

Forest Products

The slow and steady increase in U.S. housing starts continued 
in 2015 and this trend is expected to continue again in 2016. 
While U.S. housing starts are solidly above 1 million units per 
year, they remain far below the long-term trend of 1.5 million  
per year. Lumber price improvements have been muted despite 
the growth in North American demand due to production 
increases throughout the continent. The profitability of this 
business is expected to continue to improve as the anticipated 
increase in demand translates into higher selling prices. 

The Softwood Lumber Agreement (SLA) between Canada and 
the United States expired on October 12, 2015. The SLA provided 
for a one-year standstill period that prevents the United States 
from initiating new trade actions against Canada. The Company 
expects that the two governments will engage in negotiations in 
2016 to develop a replacement for the expired agreement.

Message to Shareholders
Fiscal 2015 was a challenging year for the Company. Certain internal issues negatively affected financial results in 
addition to adverse market conditions in certain segments. Despite these challenges, the Company did experience 
positive tailwinds in the final quarter of the year that should carry over into fiscal 2016.

Tembec’s journey towards world-class health and safety performance continued. The OSHA Incident Rate (OIR) 
did not improve in 2015. However, substantial improvements were achieved in the lost time incident rate and total 
severity rate. Simply put, the types of safety incidents that occurred were much less severe than in previous years.  
The Company will continue its journey to become a world-class health and safety organization and strive to eliminate 
all incidents and injuries.

The drop in adjusted EBITDA in 2015 from the previous year was disappointing and unexpected. The Specialty 
Cellulose Pulp segment was the primary cause of the lower profitability. A combination of operating factors and 
market issues caused results for this business to be below expectations. Lumber prices were also below the Company’s 
forecast and impacted the fiscal 2015 results.
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Message to Shareholders

Specialty Cellulose

The Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment experienced a decline in 
profitability due to two years of US dollar and euro price declines 
in both specialty and commodity grades. Additionally, operating 
performance was poor in Temiscaming due to an 18-day labour 
stoppage and an extended annual maintenance outage.

The specialty grade markets suffered from surplus capacity 
brought on by a competitor’s conversion of a fluff pulp mill to 
produce specialty grades. This created a very competitive market 
situation and an intense competition for market share. In the 
second half of calendar 2015, this competitor announced that 
the additional specialty capacity was being converted back to 
produce fluff pulp and commodity viscose pulp. The Company 
anticipates that this capacity change should re-balance the 
market and mitigate the need for further price declines.

The commodity viscose pulp markets bottomed out in early 
calendar 2015 and prices have improved in the second half of the 
calendar year. The fundamentals for the viscose fibre market have 
improved, leading to better demand and prices.

Paper Pulp

Demand for the Company’s high-yield pulp declined in fiscal 2015. 
While the demand for paper was down in most markets, leading 
to a demand decline for paper pulp, this was most prevalent in 
China where the paper and packaging business is overbuilt for  
the domestic demand. Our customers’ mills took significant 
downtime to reduce their inventories, thereby reducing their 
orders for high-yield pulp. It is expected that demand and prices 
will begin a slow recovery in calendar 2016.

Paper

The Paper segment operates in the coated bleached board 
market and the newsprint market. The coated bleached board 
demand and US dollar prices were stable in fiscal 2015 leading to 
good profitability in this business. Additional competition in the  
North American markets from European producers in 2015 has 
begun to put pressure on US dollar selling prices. There is the 
potential for price weakness in fiscal 2016. However, the business 
is still expected to be very profitable.

The newsprint sector continues to be affected by a structural 
decline in demand, which has put downward pressure on  
US dollar prices. The weakening of the Canadian dollar has 
mitigated much of the US dollar price decline, giving mills in 
this country a competitive advantage. However, profitability 
throughout the sector is expected to remain poor. The Company’s 
newsprint facility has a relatively low cost position and should  
be modestly profitable.

General
 
The Company is experiencing some tailwinds that should lead to 
a year-over-year improvement in profitability. The new energy 
project in Temiscaming will generate additional adjusted EBITDA. 
As well, operating performance and productivity is expected to 
improve and external variables such as foreign exchange rates 
and selling prices will likely contribute to improved financial 
performance.
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The MD&A includes “forward-looking statements” within the 
meaning of securities laws. Such statements relate, without 
limitation, to the Company’s or management’s objectives, 
projections, estimates, expectations or predictions of the future 
and can be identified by words such as “may”, “will”, “could”, 
“anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, and “project”, the negative or 
variations thereof, and expressions of similar nature. Forward-
looking statements are based on certain assumptions and 
analyses made by the Company in light of its experience, 
information available to it and its perception of future 
developments. Such statements are subject to a number of risks 
and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, changes in foreign 
exchange rates, product selling prices, raw material and operating 
costs and other factors identified in the Company’s periodic filings 
with securities regulatory authorities, including under the “risk 
factors” section of the Company’s most recent Annual Information 
Form. Many of these risks are beyond the control of the Company 
and, therefore, may cause actual actions or results to materially 
differ from those expressed or implied herein. The forward-
looking statements contained herein reflect the Company’s 
expectations as of the date hereof and are subject to change after 
such date. The Company disclaims any intention to update or 
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 

information, future events or otherwise, unless required by 
applicable securities legislation. The information in this MD&A is 
as at November 27, 2015. Disclosure contained in this document 
is current to that date, unless otherwise stated.

Throughout the MD&A, “Tembec” or “Company” means Tembec Inc. 
and its consolidated subsidiaries. Tembec’s operations consist of 
five reportable business segments: Forest Products, Specialty 
Cellulose Pulp, Paper Pulp, Paper and Corporate. On September 26, 
2015, the Company had approximately 3,250 employees, as 
compared to 3,400 at the end of the prior fiscal year. The Company 
operates manufacturing facilities in Quebec, Ontario, the state of 
Ohio, as well as in Southern France. Principal facilities are 
described in subsequent sections of the MD&A.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
as at November 27, 2015

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section provides a review of the significant developments and 
issues that influenced Tembec Inc.’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended September 26, 2015, as 
compared to the fiscal year ended September 27, 2014. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 26, 2015. Financial data has been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). All financial references are stated in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. All references 
to quarterly information relate to Tembec’s fiscal quarters. Adjusted EBITDA, net debt to total capitalization, free 
cash flow and certain other financial measures utilized in the MD&A are non-IFRS financial measures. As they have 
no standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS, they may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies. Non-IFRS financial measures are described in the section “Use of non-IFRS financial measures”.
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2015 vs. 2014

Financial summary

(in millions of dollars, unless otherwise noted) 2014  2015

Sales 1,491 1,418 

  Freight and other deductions 191  188 

  Lumber export taxes –  2 

  Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) 1,141  1,102 

  SG&A 66  59 

  Share-based compensation 3  (3) 

Adjusted EBITDA 90  70 

  Depreciation and amortization 37  43 

  Other items (35)  (4) 

Operating earnings 88  31 

  Interest, foreign exchange and other 33 54 

  Loss on refinancing of long-term debt – 37

  Exchange loss on long-term debt 26 81 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 29   (141) 

  Income tax expense  20  9 

Net earnings (loss) 9  (150)

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) in dollars per share 0.09   (1.50)

Total comprehensive loss (1)   (148)

  

Total assets (at year-end) 1,155  1,176 

Total long-term debt (at year-end) (1) 472  624 

Total long-term liabilities (at year-end) 603 775 

(1) Includes current portion
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Sales decreased by $73 million from the prior year. Currency was 
a positive factor as the Canadian dollar averaged US $0.817, an 
11.6% decrease from US $0.924 in the prior year. Forest Products 
segment sales increased by $6 million as a result of higher prices. 
Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment sales decreased by $67 million 
due to lower shipments and prices. Paper Pulp segment sales 
declined by $8 million due to lower shipments. Paper segment 
sales declined by $2 million due to lower shipments, largely offset 
by higher prices.

In terms of geographical distribution, the U.S. remained the 
Company’s principal market with 38% of consolidated sales 
in fiscal 2015, unchanged from the prior year. Canadian sales 
represented 20% of sales, compared to 19% in the prior year. Sales 
outside of the U.S. and Canada represented the remaining 42% in 
fiscal 2015, as compared to 43% a year ago.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $20 million from the prior 
year. Forest Products segment adjusted EBITDA decreased by  
$5 million due to higher costs, partially offset by higher prices. 
Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment adjusted EBITDA declined 
by $46 million due to higher costs and lower prices. Paper 
Pulp segment adjusted EBITDA increased by $7 million due to 

higher prices and lower costs. Paper segment adjusted EBITDA 
increased by $17 million due to higher prices, partially offset by 
higher costs. The decline in Corporate segment costs was due 
primarily to a $6 million reduction in share-based compensation.

Adjusted EBITDA

   Total Price Cost &
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 variance variance volume variance

Forest Products 17  12  (5) 8  (13)

Specialty Cellulose Pulp 67  21  (46) (20) (26)

Paper Pulp 6  13  7  3  4 

Paper 21  38  17  26  (9)

Corporate (21) (14) 7  –  7 

 90  70  (20) 17  (37)

Sales

   Total Price Volume &
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 variance variance mix variance

Forest Products 432  438  6  8  (2)

Specialty Cellulose Pulp 503  436  (67) (20) (47)

Paper Pulp 310  302  (8) 3  (11)

Paper 339  337  (2) 26  (28)

Corporate 15  9  (6) –  (6)

 1,599  1,522  (77) 17  (94)

Less: intersegment sales (108) (104) 4   

Sales 1,491  1,418  (73)  
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The Company generated operating earnings of $31 million 
compared to operating earnings of $88 million in fiscal 2014.

The Forest Products segment generated operating earnings of 
$7 million, as compared to operating earnings of $10 million in 
the prior year. The previously noted decrease in adjusted EBITDA 
led to the decline in operating results, partially offset by lower 
depreciation and amortization expense. The prior year results 
included an asset impairment charge of $1 million that was 
reversed in fiscal 2015.

The Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment generated an operating loss 
of $1 million as compared to operating earnings of $52 million in 
the prior year. The previously noted decline in adjusted EBITDA 
reduced operating results. Depreciation expense increased by 
$7 million as the Company began depreciating the new boiler and 
turbine at the Temiscaming specialty cellulose mill in February 2015.

 

The Paper Pulp segment generated operating earnings of  
$2 million compared to an operating loss of $5 million in the prior 
year. The previously noted increase in adjusted EBITDA led to the 
improvement in operating results.

The Paper segment generated operating earnings of $34 million, 
as compared to operating earnings of $18 million in the prior 
year. The increase in adjusted EBITDA led to the higher operating 
profitability.

Corporate segment results declined by $24 million, primarily due 
to “Other items”, which more than offset the previously noted 
improvement in adjusted EBITDA. The prior year results included 
a gain of $49 million relating to land sales.

A more detailed analysis of segment variances is included in the 
analysis that follows.

Operating earnings (loss)

    Adjusted  Other
   Total EBITDA Depreciation items
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 variance variance variance variance

Forest Products 10  7  (3) (5) 2  – 

Specialty Cellulose Pulp 52  (1) (53) (46) (7) – 

Paper Pulp (5) 2  7  7  –  – 

Paper 18  34  16  17  (1) – 

Corporate 13  (11) (24) 7  –  (31)

 88  31  (57) (20) (6) (31) 
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Segment review – 2015 vs. 2014

Forest Products

(in millions of dollars) 2014  2015

Sales (1) 432 438

Freight and other deductions 41     43    

Lumber export taxes –      2    

Cost of sales 362     370    

SG&A 12     11    

Adjusted EBITDA 17     12    

Adjusted EBITDA margin on sales 3.9 %  2.7 % 

Depreciation and amortization 7     5    

Operating earnings 10     7    

Identifiable assets 164     159    

(1) Includes intersegment sales eliminated on consolidation

The Forest Products segment is divided into two main areas 
of activity: forest resource management and manufacturing 
operations.

The Forest Resource Management group is responsible for 
managing all of the Company’s Canadian forestry operations. This 
includes the harvesting of timber, either directly or by contractual 
agreements, and silviculture and regeneration work required 
to ensure a sustainable supply for the manufacturing units. 
The group is also responsible for third party timber purchases, 
which are needed to supplement total requirements. The group’s 
main objective is the optimization of the flow of timber into 
various manufacturing units. As the Company’s forest activity 
in Canada is conducted primarily on Crown lands, the Forest 
Resource Management group works closely with provincial 
governments to ensure harvesting plans and operations comply 
with established regulations and that stumpage charged by the 

provinces is reasonable and reflects the fair value of the timber 
being harvested. During fiscal 2015, the Company’s operations 
harvested and delivered 3.1 million cubic metres of timber, 
compared to 3.4 million cubic metres in the prior year. Additional 
supply of approximately 0.7 million cubic metres was secured 
mainly through purchases and exchanges with third parties, 
unchanged from the prior year.

The Forest Products segment includes operations located in 
Quebec and Ontario. The SPF lumber operations can produce 
approximately 855 million board feet of lumber. The specialty 
wood operations can annually produce 30 million board feet of 
hardwood lumber. The Company’s engineered wood operations 
consist of a finger joint lumber plant, which was idle for all of  
fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2015.
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The following summarizes the current annual capacity of each facility by product group:

SPF lumber  mbf
Stud lumber – La Sarre, QC  135,000

Stud lumber – Senneterre, QC  100,000

Stud lumber – Cochrane, ON  160,000

Stud lumber – Kapuskasing, ON  105,000

Random lumber – Béarn, QC  110,000

Random lumber – Chapleau, ON  135,000

Random lumber – Hearst, ON  110,000

  855,000

Specialty wood  mbf
Hardwood lumber – Huntsville, ON  30,000

Engineered wood  mbf
Engineered finger joint lumber – La Sarre, QC  60,000

The segment is dominated by SPF lumber, which represented  
96% of building material sales in fiscal 2015, unchanged from the 
prior year. The volume of SPF lumber sold in fiscal 2015 increased 
by 17.5 million board feet or 2.5%. The shipment to capacity ratio 
was 84% in fiscal 2015, compared to 82% in the prior year. Market 
conditions for lumber were similar year-over-year.

Specialty wood represented 4% of building material sales in 
fiscal 2015, unchanged from the prior year. Prices decreased by  
$12 per mbf or 1.6%.

There were no engineered wood sales in fiscal 2014 and 2015.  
The finger joint facility was idle for all of fiscal 2014 and  
fiscal 2015.

 
 

The SPF sawmills produced and shipped 662,900 tonnes of wood 
chips in fiscal 2015, 62% of which were directed to the Company’s 
pulp and paper operations. In 2014, the sawmills produced 
678,500 tonnes and shipped 58% of this volume to the Company’s 
pulp and paper mills. The internal transfer price of wood chips is 
based on comparable arms-length transactions.

Total sales for this segment reached $438 million, an increase of 
$6 million over the prior year. After eliminating internal sales, the 
Forest Products segment generated 26% of Company consolidated 
sales, up from 25% in the prior year. The segment’s main market 
is North America, which represented 99% of consolidated sales in 
fiscal 2015, unchanged from the prior year.
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  Sales  Shipments  Selling prices
  ($ millions)  (000 units)  ($ / unit) 

 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

SPF lumber (mbf) 300  315  702.1  719.6  427  438  

Specialty wood      

  Hardwood (mbf) 12  12  15.7  16.4  754  742 

Total building materials 312  327     

  Wood chips (bone dry tonnes) 66  63  678.5  662.9  97  95 

  Logs and by-products 54  48         

Total sales 432  438     

  Internal wood chips and other sales (64) (63)    

Consolidated sales 368  375 

Markets
The Company markets its lumber with its own internal sales force.

The benchmark random length Eastern SPF average lumber price 
(#2 and better delivered Great Lakes) decreased from US $450 per 
mbf in fiscal 2014 to US $396 per mbf in fiscal 2015. The reference 
price for stud lumber decreased as well with the Eastern average 
lumber price (delivered Great Lakes) down from US $402 per 
mbf to US $367 per mbf. The price gap between the two grades 
narrowed as expected. Currency was favourable as the Canadian 
dollar averaged US $0.817, an 11.6% decline from US $0.924 in 
the prior year. As a result, the average selling price of SPF lumber 

increased by approximately $11 per mbf. Housing starts in the 
U.S. on a seasonally adjusted basis averaged 1,089,000 units in 
fiscal 2015, a 9.7% increase over the 993,000 units in fiscal 2014. 
However, these remain below the 1.2 million to 1.3 million average 
that would be indicative of normal market conditions. Housing 
starts in Canada on a seasonally adjusted basis averaged 191,000 
units, the same level as in the prior year. During fiscal 2015, 
the Company shipped 382,200 mbf or 53.1% of its volume into 
the U.S. market. The balance of 337,400 mbf or 46.9% of its 
volume was sold in Canada. In the prior year, the Company had 
shipped 400,500 mbf or 57.1% of its volume into the U.S. market.  
The balance of 301,600 mbf or 42.9% of its volume was sold  
in Canada.

Effective October 12, 2006, the governments of Canada and the 
United States implemented an agreement for the settlement of 
the softwood lumber dispute. The Softwood Lumber Agreement 
(SLA) requires that an export tax be collected by the Government 
of Canada, which is based on the price and volume of lumber 
shipped. Since that date, the Company’s sawmills have been 
subject to export quota limitations and a variable export tax 
rate on lumber shipped to the U.S. The SLA provides that during 
periods of relatively high prices, the export tax rate declines. In 
fiscal 2015, the average tax rate on lumber shipped to the U.S. 
was 1.4% and the total cost was $2 million. In fiscal 2014, the 
average tax rate on lumber shipped to the U.S. was 0.6% and the 
total cost was $340,000. The rate increase was due to the lower 
US dollar selling prices.

Quarterly prices – Eastern SPF delivered

(US $ per mbf)
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In fiscal 2015, adjusted EBITDA was $12 million compared to 
adjusted EBITDA of $17 million in the prior year. SPF lumber 
profitability declined by $3 million year-over-year. The previously 
noted higher selling prices for lumber increased adjusted EBITDA 
by $8 million. The higher prices were primarily caused by currency 
as the Canadian dollar averaged 11.6% lower than in the prior 
year. The previously noted increase in export taxes on lumber 
shipped to the U.S. decreased adjusted EBITDA by $2 million. 
Sawmill manufacturing costs increased by $4 million, primarily 
due to increased fibre costs. The $2 million decline in other 
segment items was due primarily to lower profitability in the 
specialty wood operations. The segment adjusted EBITDA margin 
to total sales was 2.7% compared to 3.9% in the prior year.

The following summarizes operating results variances by major 
element:

   Variance 
   favourable
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 (unfavourable)

Adjusted EBITDA 17  12  (5)

Depreciation  
  and amortization 7  5  2 

Operating earnings 10  7  (3)

The Forest Products segment generated operating earnings of  
$7 million, as compared to operating earnings of $10 million in 
fiscal 2014. The previously noted decrease in adjusted EBITDA 
led to the decline in operations results, partially offset by lower 
depreciation and amortization expense. The prior year results 
included an asset impairment charge of $1 million that was 
reversed in fiscal 2015.

Operating results
The following summarizes adjusted EBITDA variances by major element:

 Variance – favourable (unfavourable)

  Export  Mill  Inventory NRV 
(in millions of dollars) Price taxes costs adjustments Freight Other TOTAL

SPF lumber 8  (2) (4) (1) (2) (2) (3)

Other segment items –  –  –  –  –  (2) (2)

 8  (2) (4) (1) (2) (4) (5)
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Specialty Cellulose Pulp

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 

Sales – Pulp (1) 387  333  

Sales – Chemicals 116   103  

 503     436    

Freight and other deductions 44     43    

Cost of sales 372     355    

SG&A 20     17    

Adjusted EBITDA 67  21  

Adjusted EBITDA margin on sales 13.3%  4.8% 

Depreciation and amortization 15   22  

Operating earnings (loss) 52   (1)  

Identifiable assets 656   683  

(1) Includes intersegment sales eliminated on consolidation

The Specialty Cel lulose Pulp segment consists of two 
manufacturing facilities, which produce specialty cellulose 
pulps. The specialty cellulose pulp mills have an annual rated 
capacity of 310,000 tonnes per year. The pulp produced at 
the two pulp mills is a high-purity cellulose utilized in a wide 
variety of specialized products such as pharmaceuticals, food 
additives, and industrial chemicals. The Temiscaming mill 
also produces “viscose” grade pulp, which is utilized in the 
production of viscose staple fibre, which in turn is used to 
produce rayon for the textile industry. 

The specialty cellulose mills generate lignin as a by-product of 
the sulphite process, a portion of which is sold to third parties. 
The Temiscaming mill previously operated a facility that 
produced ethanol as a by-product that was sold to third parties. 
The ethanol plant was permanently idled in October 2014. 
The segment also includes a stand-alone resin business, 
which produces powder and liquid phenolic resins at two 
operating sites in Quebec: Temiscaming and Longueuil.  
The Company also operates a third facility located in Toledo, 
Ohio, which manufactures powder and liquid amino-resins. 
The chemical business periodically purchases and re-sells 
third party pulp mill by-product chemicals.

The following summarizes the annual operating capacity of 
each facility:

Specialty cellulose tonnes

Specialty cellulose – Temiscaming, QC 160,000

Specialty cellulose – Tartas, France 150,000

 310,000

Chemicals tonnes

Resin and related products 

  – Temiscaming and Longueuil, QC; Toledo, Ohio 170,000

Lignin – Temiscaming, QC; Tartas, France 60,000

Total sales for the Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment were  
$436 million, a decrease of $67 million from the prior year.  
The $54 million decrease in pulp sales was due to lower 
shipments and prices of specialty grade pulp, partially offset  
by higher shipments and prices of viscose and other grades.  
The $13 million decrease in chemical sales was due to lower 
volumes of ethanol, lignin and resin products. The Specialty 
Cellulose Pulp segment generated 31% of Company consolidated 
sales, down from 34% in the prior year. The Specialty Cellulose 
Pulp segment is a global business. In fiscal 2015, 69% of 
consolidated sales were generated outside of Canada and the 
U.S., compared to 67% in fiscal 2014.
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  Sales  Shipments  Selling prices
  ($ millions)  (000 units)  ($ / unit)

 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Specialty pulp      

  Specialty cellulose (tonnes) 340  268  194.4  168.8  1,749  1,585 

  Viscose and other grades (tonnes) 47  65  52.2  66.0  889  989 

 387  333  246.6  234.8    

Chemicals      

  Resin and related products (tonnes) 64  58  55.2  56.9  1,157  1,023 

  Lignin (tonnes) 36  38  106.8  88.2  333  429 

  Ethanol (000 litres) 7  1  9.2  0.7  800  1,090 

  Other chemical sales 9  6     

 116  103     

Total sales 503  436   

  Internal pulp sales –  (2)        

Consolidated sales 503  434

Markets 
The Company markets its pulp on a world-wide basis, primarily 
through its own sales force. Permanent sales offices are maintained 
in Toronto, Canada and Dax, France. Contractual arrangements 
with third party representatives are also utilized.

The shipment to capacity ratio for specialty pulp was 76% in  
fiscal 2015 versus 80% in the prior year. The decrease in shipment 
ratio was due to a decrease of 25,600 tonnes of specialty grade 
pulp, partially offset by a 13,800 tonnes increase in shipments of 
viscose and other grades of pulp. In addition to the previously 
noted decline in specialty grade pulp demand, shipments in 
fiscal 2015 were impacted by an 18-day production stoppage 
at the Temiscaming pulp mill due to a labour dispute with the 
unionized workforce. The stoppage began in late-November 2014 
and continued until mid-December 2014. The Temiscaming mill 
produced 5,800 fewer tonnes than in fiscal 2014. The reduced 
demand for specialty grades was accompanied by lower US dollar 
and euro prices, which declined by 9%-10% from the prior year. 
Currency was not a significant mitigating factor as the Canadian 
dollar weakened versus the US dollar, but strengthened vis-à-vis the 
euro. Overall, Canadian dollar equivalent prices for specialty grades 

declined by $164 per tonne, or approximately 9.4%. While US dollar 
prices for viscose and other grades declined by US $7 per tonne, 
this was more than offset by the weaker Canadian dollar. The net 
effect was a $100 per tonne increase in the Canadian dollar selling 
price of viscose and other grades. The Company has a strategy of 
gradually reducing its exposure to the viscose market by producing 
additional specialty grade volume. The relatively weak demand for 
specialty grades in fiscal 2015 led to an increase in non-specialty 
grade shipments. Specialty grade volumes represented 72% of pulp 
shipments in fiscal 2015 compared to 79% in the prior year.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

14 Tembec Financial Report 2015

Fiscal 2015 adjusted EBITDA was $21 million compared to  
$67 million in the prior year, a decrease of $46 million. As noted 
previously, the decline in the selling price of specialty grade pulp 
led to an unfavourable price variance of $28 million. This was 
partially offset by a $6 million favourable price variance on viscose 
and other grades. The $4 million increase in mill costs was caused 
by the Temiscaming mill, which recorded a negative variance of 
$3 million for unabsorbed fixed costs resulting from the previously 
noted labour disruption. The mill also incurred higher costs for 
chemicals, maintenance material and supplies. The increase was 

partially offset by a $7 million reduction in energy costs due to the 
new boiler and turbine. Lower sales of specialty pulp combined 
with increased sales of viscose and other grades generated an 
unfavourable sales volume and mix variance, reducing adjusted 
EBITDA by $16 million.

Operating results
The following summarizes adjusted EBITDA variances by major element:

 Variance – favourable (unfavourable)

  Mill   Mix &  
(in millions of dollars) Price costs Freight volume Other TOTAL

Specialty cellulose (22) (4) (2) (16) (2) (46)

Chemicals 2  (2) –  –  –  – 

 (20) (6) (2) (16) (2) (46)
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The $2 million favourable chemicals price variance was due to 
higher lignin prices, partially offset by lower resin prices. However, 
lignin costs increased and profitability remained unchanged 
year-over-year.

Overall, lower prices and a weaker pulp sales mix reduced segment 
adjusted EBITDA margins from 13.3% in 2014 to 4.8% in 2015.

The Temiscaming specialty cellulose mill purchased approximately 
278,800 bone dry tonnes of wood chips in fiscal 2015, down from 
319,600 in the prior year. Of this amount, approximately 71% was 
supplied by the Company’s Forest Products segment, compared 
to 63% in the prior year. The remaining requirements were 
purchased from third parties under contracts and agreements 
of various durations. The pulp mill located in Southern France 
purchased 322,100 bone dry tonnes of wood in fiscal 2015 as 
compared to 310,300 bone dry tonnes in the prior year. The fibre 
is sourced from many private landowners.

The following summarizes operating results variances by  
major element:

   Variance 
   favourable
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 (unfavourable)

Adjusted EBITDA 67  21  (46) 

Depreciation and  
  amortization 15  22 (7) 

Operating earnings (loss) 52  (1)  (53) 

The Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment generated an operating 
loss of $1 million during the most recently completed fiscal year, 
compared to operating earnings of $52 million in the prior year. 
The previously noted decline in adjusted EBITDA led to the lower 
operating results. Depreciation expense increased by $7 million 
as the Company began depreciating the new boiler and turbine  
at the Temiscaming specialty pulp mill in February 2015.
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Paper Pulp

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 

Sales (1) 310   302  

Freight and other deductions 60     60    

Cost of sales 239     225    

SG&A 5     4    

Adjusted EBITDA 6 13  

Adjusted EBITDA margin on sales 1.9%  4.3%

Depreciation and amortization 11     11    

Operating earnings (loss) (5)    2    

Identifiable assets 142     147     

(1) Includes intersegment sales eliminated on consolidation

The Paper Pulp segment consists of two high-yield pulp 
manufacturing facilities. The pulp mills produce pulp with 
a combination of mechanical and chemical processes.  
The Company produces hardwood grades made from maple, 
aspen and birch. High-yield pulps have a lower tensile and tear 
strength than kraft pulps, but they offer advantages on bulk 
and opacity. They compete against other hardwood or “short 
fibre” grades, with Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft (BEK) being the  
most prominent. 

The following summarizes the annual capacity of each facility:

High-yield pulp tonnes

Hardwood high-yield – Temiscaming, QC 300,000

Hardwood high-yield – Matane, QC 270,000

 570,000

This segment shipped 492,300 tonnes of high-yield pulp  
in fiscal 2015 compared to 511,100 tonnes in the prior year. 
High-yield pulp shipments include 59,600 tonnes consumed  
by the Company’s paperboard operations, as compared to  
58,700 tonnes in the prior year. 

Total sales for the Paper Pulp segment were $302 million, 
a decrease of $8 million from the prior year. After eliminating 
internal sales, the Paper Pulp segment generated 19% of Company 
consolidated sales, unchanged from the prior year. The Paper 
Pulp segment is more export oriented than the other business 
segments within the Company. In 2015, 97% of consolidated 
paper pulp sales were generated outside of Canada and the U.S., 
as compared to 99% in the prior year. China alone accounted for 
48% of sales compared to 41% in fiscal 2014.
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Markets 
The Company markets its pulp on a world-wide basis, primarily 
through its own sales force. Sales offices are maintained in 
Toronto, Canada and Dax, France. Contractual arrangements with 
third party representatives are also utilized.

Market conditions for paper pulp were relatively weak in both 
fiscal 2014 and 2015. Pulp shipments from the two high-yield 
pulp mills were equal to 87% of capacity as compared to 90% in the 
prior year. The fiscal 2015 shipments were impacted by a 16-day 
production stoppage at the Temiscaming high-yield pulp mill due 
to a labour dispute with the unionized workforce. The stoppage 
began in late-November and continued until mid-December. 
The Temiscaming pulp mill shipped 20,100 fewer tonnes in  
fiscal 2015, as compared to the prior year. The benchmark price 
for BEK increased by US $27 per tonne. However, this increase 
did not carry over into the high-yield pulp market where prices 
decreased by US $61 per tonne over the prior year. Currency was 
a positive factor as the Canadian dollar averaged US $0.817, an 
11.6% decline from the prior year. Overall, Canadian dollar prices 
for high-yield pulp improved by $6 per tonne. Inventory levels 
ended the year at 35 days of supply as compared to 25 days at 
the end of fiscal 2014.

Quarterly prices – High-yield pulp

(US $ per tonne)
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  Sales  Shipments  Selling prices
  ($ millions)  (000 tonnes)  ($ / tonne)

 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Hardwood high-yield pulp 310  302  511.1  492.3   607  613 

  Internal sales (29) (30) (58.7) (59.6)  

Consolidated sales 281 272  452.4  432.7   
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Fiscal 2015 adjusted EBITDA was $13 million compared to 
$6 million in the prior year. The previously noted increase  
in high-yield pulp selling prices increased adjusted EBITDA by  
$3 million. Mill level costs at the two high-yield pulp mills 
decreased by $5 million, primarily due to lower fibre and  
energy costs. 

The two pulp mills purchased approximately 527,200 bone dry 
tonnes of wood in fiscal 2015, down from 551,500 tonnes in the 
prior year. Of this amount, approximately 39% was supplied by 
the Forest Products segment, compared to 38% in the prior year. 
The remaining requirements were purchased from third parties 
under contracts and agreements of various durations. 

Overall, higher high-yield pulp prices and lower costs led  
to improved profitability with an adjusted EBITDA margin of 
4.3% in fiscal 2015 compared to 1.9% in the prior year.

The following summarizes operating results variances by  
major element:

   Variance 
   favourable
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 (unfavourable)

Adjusted EBITDA 6  13  7 

Depreciation  
  and amortization 11  11  –

Operating earnings (loss) (5) 2  7  

The Paper Pulp segment generated operating earnings of  
$2 million during the most recently completed fiscal year, 
compared to an operating loss of $5 million in the prior year. 
The previously noted increase in adjusted EBITDA led to the 
improvement in operating results.

Operating results
The following summarizes adjusted EBITDA variances by major element:

 Variance – favourable (unfavourable)

  Mill Inventory NRV  Volume & 
(in millions of dollars) Price costs adjustments Freight Other TOTAL

High-yield pulp 3  5  1  (1) (2) 6 

Other segment items –  –  –  –  1  1 

 3  5  1  (1) (1) 7 
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Paper

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 

Sales 339     337    

Freight and other deductions 46     42    

Cost of sales 261     247    

SG&A 11     10    

Adjusted EBITDA 21     38    

Adjusted EBITDA margin on sales 6.2%  11.3% 

Depreciation and amortization 3     4    

Operating earnings 18     34    

Identifiable assets 144   163  

The Paper segment currently includes two paper manufacturing 
facilities with a total of three paper machines. The mill located 
in Kapuskasing, Ontario, produces newsprint on two machines. 
The facility located in Temiscaming, Quebec, produces multi-ply 
coated bleached board on one machine. The board mill is partially 
integrated with a high-yield pulp mill. The total capacity of the 
Paper segment is 400,000 tonnes.

The following summarizes the products and capacity of  
each facility:

Coated bleached board tonnes

Temiscaming, QC 180,000

Newsprint tonnes

Kapuskasing, ON 220,000

Coated bleached board shipments represented 45% of 
Paper segment shipments in fiscal 2015, as compared to  
44% in the prior year. As a percentage of total segment sales, 
coated bleached board represented 66% of sales compared to  
62% in the prior year. Newsprint shipments represented  
55% of Paper segment shipments in fiscal 2015, as compared to  
56% in the prior year. In terms of total segment sales, newsprint 
represented 34% of sales compared to 38% in the prior year.

Sales for the Paper segment totalled $337 million, as compared 
to $339 million in the prior year. The segment generated  
24% of Company consolidated sales, as compared to 23% in 
fiscal 2014. The focus of the paper business is North America, 
which accounted for 91% of consolidated sales in 2015, 
unchanged from the prior year. The U.S. alone accounted for 
74% of sales in fiscal 2015, unchanged from the prior year.

  Sales  Shipments  Selling prices
  ($ millions)  (000 tonnes)  ($ / tonne)

 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Coated bleached board (rolls and sheets) 210  221  165.3  153.8  1,267  1,434  

Newsprint 129  116  210.8  189.8  614  612  

Consolidated sales 339  337  376.1  343.6    
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Markets
The benchmark reference price for coated bleached board rolls 
(16 point) averaged US $1,185 per short ton in fiscal 2015, an  
US $8 per short ton increase over the prior year. The shipment  
to capacity ratio for coated bleached board was 85% in fiscal 2015 
compared to 92% in the prior year. Fiscal 2015 shipments were 
impacted by a 13-day production stoppage at the Temiscaming 
coated bleached board mill due to a labour dispute with the 
unionized workforce. Currency was a positive factor as the 
Canadian dollar averaged US $0.817, an 11.6% decrease from  
US $0.924 in the prior year. Overall, average selling prices for 
coated bleached board rolls and sheets increased by $167 per 
tonne. The inventory level at year-end was at 65 days, compared 
to 45 days at the end of the prior year.

The newsprint market remained weak. The benchmark newsprint 
price (48.8 gram — East Coast) averaged US $562 per tonne in 
fiscal 2015, a decrease of US $43 per tonne from the prior year. 
The weaker Canadian dollar offset this decrease and average 
newsprint prices were relatively unchanged year-over-year. The 
shipment to capacity ratio for newsprint was 79% as compared 
to 88% in the prior year. Finished goods inventories of newsprint 
were at approximately 17 days of supply at year-end, compared 
to 11 days at the end of the prior year.

Quarterly prices – Coated bleached board

(US $ per short ton)

Tembec average – rolls

16 PT SBS – transaction price

Tembec average – rolls
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Fiscal 2015 adjusted EBITDA was $38 million compared to  
$21 million in the prior year. The previously noted improvement 
in coated bleached board prices increased adjusted EBITDA by 
$26 million. The coated bleached board mill level costs increased 
by $10 million, primarily for purchased external pulp and energy. 
Freight and distribution costs increased by $1 million. Canadian 
dollar newsprint prices were relatively unchanged year-over-year. 
Newsprint mill manufacturing costs also held at similar levels, with 
higher fixed costs being offset by lower energy costs. Overall, 
higher prices more than offset higher costs and segment adjusted 
EBITDA margins improved from 6.2% to 11.3%.

The coated bleached board mill utilizes a combination of 
chemical kraft and high-yield pulp to produce a three-ply sheet.  
During fiscal 2015, the mill utilized 59,600 tonnes of high-yield 
pulp supplied by the Temiscaming high-yield pulp mill versus 
58,700 tonnes supplied in fiscal 2014. The balance of pulp 
requirements was purchased from third parties.

The newsprint mill utilizes virgin fibre, primarily in the form 
of wood chips. During fiscal 2015, the operations consumed  
199,400 bone dry tonnes of virgin fibre, of which 100% was 
internally sourced. In the prior year, 234,700 bone dry tonnes of 
virgin fibre were consumed, with 79% being sourced internally.

The following summarizes operating results variances by  
major element:

   Variance 
   favourable
(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 (unfavourable)

Adjusted EBITDA 21  38  17 

Depreciation  
  and amortization 3  4  (1)

Operating earnings 18  34  16 

The Paper segment generated operating earnings of $34 million 
compared to operating earnings of $18 million in the prior year. 
The previously noted increase in adjusted EBITDA led to the 
higher operating earnings.

Operating results
The following summarizes adjusted EBITDA variances by major element:

 Variance – favourable (unfavourable)

  Mill    
(in millions of dollars) Price costs Freight Other TOTAL

Coated bleached board 26  (10) (1) 1  16 

Newsprint –  –  – –  – 

Other segment costs –  –  – 1  1 

 26  (10) (1) 2  17  
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The Company recorded a $3 million credit for share-based 
compensation in fiscal 2015, as compared to a $3 million charge in 
the prior year. Senior executives currently participate in a long-term 
incentive plan, which entitles participants to potentially receive 
units that are equal in value to one common share. The units 
have a defined vesting period and are subject to performance 
conditions that ultimately determine the amount of units that vest 
and are earned by plan participants. Non-executive members of the  
Board of Directors receive a portion of their fees in the form of  
“Deferred Share Units” (DSU). The DSUs vest at specified dates. The 
period credit/expense for the share-based compensation plan consists 
of normal periodic variation in the number of units based on anticipated 
or normal vesting and the change in the value of the Company’s  
share price.

The Corporate segment’s “other items” include expenses relating to 
several permanently idled facilities. The costs relate to custodial, site 
security, legal, pension administration and remediation activities. 
These “legacy” items totalled $2 million in the most recent year 
compared to a $5 million expense a year ago.

In fiscal 2015, the Company completed a land sale for proceeds of 
$2 million and recorded a gain of $1 million. In the prior year, the 
Company completed six land sale transactions for total consideration 
of $60 million and recorded a gain of $49 million.

In fiscal 2015, the Company recorded a gain of $9 million related 
to the settlement of a non-recourse debt obligation. The debt is 
secured by a charge against the Kirkland Lake, Ontario, finger-joint 
plant, which has been idle since 2008. 

The fiscal 2015 results also include a $3 million charge relating to the 
impairment of a loan receivable from Temlam Inc. The latter owned 
an idled laminated veneer lumber (LVL) manufacturing facility 
located in Amos, Quebec. The Company had a 50% secured interest 
in the facility. The Company reduced the carrying value of its loan 
receivable by $3 million to reflect the total net proceeds of $4 million 
received when Temlam Inc. sold the facility in January 2015. 

In fiscal 2015, the Company negotiated a new collective agreement 
with the Temiscaming, Quebec, unionized workforce. The agreement 
included a provision to increase pension payments to retirees, which 
increased the estimated present value of pension obligations by  
$1 million with a related charge to operating earnings.

In fiscal 2014, the Company completed the sale of the Chetwynd, 
British Colombia (BC), high-yield pulp mill for a nominal amount. 
The sale generated a $1 million gain as the buyer assumed certain 
liabilities associated with the facility. The Company terminated its BC 
defined benefit pension plan and recorded a charge of $7 million.  
The Company entered into an agreement with an insurance company 
to settle a $55 million pension obligation for an amount of $62 million, 
which was equivalent to the amount of plan assets held in trust at 
the time of the settlement. The Company also reorganized certain 
functions and roles and recorded a charge of $3 million relating to 
severance and salary continuance costs associated with personnel 
reductions.

Corporate

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 

General and administrative expenses 18     17    

Share-based compensation 3     (3)   

Depreciation and amortization 1     1    

Other items:  

  Custodial – idled facilities 5     2    

  Gain on sale of land (49)    (1)   

  Gain on settlement of non-recourse debt obligation –      (9)   

  Impairment loss – Temlam loan receivable –     3    

  Past service cost – defined benefit pension plan –      1    

  Gain on sale of Chetwynd pulp mill (1)    –     

  Loss on termination of BC defined benefit pension plan 7     –     

  Reorganization – severance costs 3     –     

Operating loss (earnings) (13)    11     
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Non-operating items
Interest, foreign exchange and other

Fiscal 2015 interest expense relates primarily to interest on the  
US $375 million — 9% senior secured notes maturing in  
December 2019. Fiscal 2014 interest expense relates primarily  
to interest on the US $305 million — 11.25% senior secured notes.  
The $6 million increase in interest expense is due primarily to new 
project debt incurred to fund the Temiscaming, QC, specialty 
cellulose cogeneration project, which totalled $131 million at the 
end of September 2015. Capitalized interest is also related to 
the Temiscaming, QC, specialty cellulose cogeneration project. 
Interest capitalization ceased at the end of September 2014. 
Foreign exchange items are primarily caused by gains or losses 
on the translation of US dollar net monetary assets. The charge 
for employee future benefits relates to interest accretion on net 
unfunded obligations.

Loss on refinancing of long-term debt 

On October 1, 2014, the Company completed a private debt 
offering of US $375 million — 9% senior secured notes due in 
December 2019. A portion of the proceeds from the offering 
was utilized to redeem all of the Company’s US $305 million — 
11.25% senior secured notes due in December 2018, as well as 
an early prepayment penalty of $27 million (US $24 million).  
In addition, the Company absorbed a $10 million charge related 
to the elimination of previously deferred financing costs.

Translation of foreign debt 

During fiscal 2015, the Company recorded a loss of $81 million on 
the translation of its US dollar denominated debt as the relative value 
of the Canadian dollar decreased from US $0.896 to US $0.751.

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded a loss of $26 million on 
the translation of its US dollar denominated debt as the relative value 
of the Canadian dollar decreased from US $0.971 to US $0.896.

Income taxes

The following table reconciles the anticipated income tax 
expense/recovery based on the statutory rate to the actual 
income tax expense:

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 29  (141)

Anticipated income tax  
  expense (recovery) 7  (37)

Difference in statutory rates 5  2 

Unrecognized tax asset  
  arising from period losses 6  30 

Non-deductible portion of foreign  
  exchange loss on translation of debt 3  11 

Permanent differences and  
  other tax adjustments (1) 3 

Income tax expense 20  9  

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015 

Interest on debt 49  55 

Capitalized interest (18) – 

Foreign exchange items (5) (8)

Employee future benefits 4  4 

Bank charges and other 3  3 

 33  54 
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Comprehensive loss
The following table summarizes the impact of items affecting the reported total comprehensive loss during the last two fiscal years:

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015

Net earnings (loss) 9  (150)

  Employee future benefit loss (13) (5)

  Foreign currency translation gain on foreign operations 3  7 

Total comprehensive loss (1) (148)

Net earnings (loss)
 
The Company generated a net loss of $150 million or $1.50 per share for the year ended September 26, 2015, compared to net earnings 
of $9 million or $0.09 per share for the year ended September 27, 2014.

During fiscal 2015, the Company recorded an income tax expense 
of $9 million on a loss before income taxes of $141 million. The 
income tax expense reflected a $46 million unfavourable variance 
versus an anticipated income tax recovery of $37 million based 
on the Company’s effective tax rate of 26.2%. The difference in 
statutory income tax rates increased the income tax expense 
by $2 million. This was caused by the higher corporate tax rate 
applicable to the Company’s French operations. The income tax 
expense was increased by $30 million as the result of losses for 
which no deferred tax asset was recognized. The Company has 
a significant balance of unrecognized tax assets relating to its 
Canadian operations since it has not been determined that the 
future realization of these assets is probable. The non-deductible 
portion of the foreign exchange loss on translation of debt 
increased the income tax expense by $11 million. Permanent 
differences and other tax adjustments increased the income tax 
expense by $3 million.

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded an income tax expense 
of $20 million on earnings before income taxes of $29 million. 
The income tax expense reflected a $13 million unfavourable 
variance versus an anticipated income tax expense of  
$7 million based on the Company’s effective tax rate of 26.2%.  
The difference in statutory income tax rates increased the 
income tax expense by $5 million. This was caused by the higher 
corporate tax rate applicable to the Company’s French operations. 
The Company absorbed a $6 million unfavourable variance related 
to period losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized. 
The Company has a significant balance of unrecognized tax 
assets relating to its Canadian operations since it has not been 
determined that the future realization of these assets is probable.  
The non-deductible portion of the foreign exchange loss 
on translation of debt increased the income tax expense by  
$3 million. Permanent differences and other tax adjustments 
reduced the income tax expense by $1 million.
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During fiscal 2015, the Company recognized a loss of $5 million 
relating to the increase of the estimated net obligation for 
employee future benefits. The average discount rate applied 
to estimate the present value of future obligations increased 
from 4.03% to 4.04%, thereby reducing the net obligation by  
$1 million. The return on plan assets exceeded the expected 
return, decreasing the net obligation by $5 million. Due to the 
absence of current service costs in certain legacy pension plans, 
the Company is limited in its ability to recognize all plan assets 
held in trust. This increased the net obligation by $3 million. 
Changes to demographic assumptions and plan experience 
increased the net obligation by $8 million.

During fiscal 2014, the Company recognized a loss of $13 million 
relating to the increase of the estimated net obligation for 
employee future benefits. The average discount rate applied 
to estimate the present value of future obligations decreased 
from 4.60% to 4.03%, thereby increasing the net obligation by  

$58 million. The return on plan assets exceeded the expected 
return by $67 million, reducing the net obligation. Due to the 
absence of current service costs in certain legacy pension plans, 
the Company is limited in its ability to recognize all plan assets 
held in trust. This increased the net obligation by $9 million. 
Changes to demographic assumptions and plan experience 
increased the net obligation by $13 million.

Comprehensive items include gains or losses related to the 
currency translation of the assets and liabilities of the Company’s 
French and U.S. operations. The gains or losses are generated 
by changes in the end of period exchange rates. During  
fiscal 2015, the currency translation of the French operations 
generated a gain of $10 million and the currency translation of the  
U.S. operations generated a loss of $3 million. During fiscal 2014, 
the currency translation of the French operations generated  
a gain of $3 million.

Subsequent event
On November 18, 2015, the Company announced that it had 
entered into a new asset-based loan (ABL), which consists of 
a $150 million revolving credit facility (revolving loan) and a  
US $62 million “first-in, last out” term loan (FILO loan). The new 
ABL replaced the Company’s existing $175 million ABL revolving 
credit facility.

The revolving loan will expire on November 18, 2020, provided 
several conditions are met, including repayment of the FILO 
loan prior to March 2, 2018, failing which the maturity would 
be accelerated to an earlier date, but not earlier than March 2, 
2018. The revolving loan has a first priority charge over the 
receivables and inventories of the Company’s Canadian and 
U.S. operations. The FILO loan is secured by the same collateral 

as the revolving loan and ranks second in repayment priority 
relative to the revolving loan. The FILO loan is also secured by a 
first priority charge on the fixed assets of one of the Company’s  
U.S. subsidiaries.

The Company utilized borrowings under the new ABL to repay the 
amounts outstanding under the prior ABL revolving credit facility 
and pay transaction fees and expenses. After giving effect to the 
refinancing, the Company’s total liquidity at November 18, 2015, 
was approximately $112 million, compared to $56 million at the 
end of the September 2015 quarter.
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Fourth quarter analysis

The Company reported a net loss of $32 million or $0.32 per 
share in the fourth quarter ended September 26, 2015, compared  
to net earnings of $5 million or $0.05 per share in the same 
quarter of fiscal 2014. The weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding was 100 million, unchanged from the prior 
year quarter.

Sales increased by $2 million from the same quarter a year ago. 
Currency was a positive factor as the Canadian dollar averaged  
US $0.765, a 16.7% decrease from US $0.918 in the year ago 
quarter. Forest Products segment sales decreased by $6 million 
as a result of lower prices and shipments. Specialty Cellulose 
Pulp segment sales decreased by $2 million due to lower 
prices. Paper Pulp segment sales increased by $7 million due to 
higher shipments and prices. Paper segment sales increased by  
$5 million due to higher prices, partially offset by lower shipments.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by $7 million from the prior year 
quarter. Forest Products segment adjusted EBITDA decreased 
by $7 million due to lower prices and higher costs. Specialty 
Cellulose Pulp segment adjusted EBITDA declined by $1 million 
due to lower prices, partially offset by lower costs. Paper Pulp 
segment adjusted EBITDA increased by $7 million due to higher 
prices and lower costs. Paper segment adjusted EBITDA increased 
by $6 million due to higher prices, partially offset by higher costs.

The Company generated operating earnings of $24 million 
compared to operating earnings of $32 million in the same quarter 
a year ago. In addition to the previously noted improvement 
in adjusted EBITDA, the September 2015 quarter also saw a  
$14 million unfavourable variance in other items. The prior year 
quarter results included a $15 million gain related to land sales.

The interest expense relates primarily to interest on the US dollar 
denominated senior secured notes. Capitalized interest is related 
to the Temiscaming, QC, specialty cellulose cogeneration project. 
Interest capitalization ceased at the end of September 2014. 
Foreign exchange items are primarily caused by gains or losses 
on the translation of US dollar net monetary assets. The charge 
for employee future benefits relates to interest accretion on net 
unfunded obligations.

During the September 2015 quarter, the Company recorded a 
loss of $38 million on the translation of its US dollar denominated 
debt as the relative value of the Canadian dollar decreased from  
US $0.812 to US $0.751.

During the September 2014 quarter, the Company recorded a 
loss of $15 million on the translation of its US dollar denominated 
debt as the relative value of the Canadian dollar decreased from  
US $0.938 to US $0.896.

Quarterly financial information

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts) 2014 2015
 Dec. 13 March 14 June 14 Sept. 14 Dec. 14 March 15 June 15 Sept. 15

Sales 354  362  404  371  332  348  365  373 

Adjusted EBITDA 13  18  30  29  20  12  2  36 

Depreciation and amortization 8  9  9  11  9  10  12  12 

Other items (14) 6  (13) (14) 3  (8) 1  – 

Operating earnings (loss) 19  3  34  32  8  10  (11) 24 

Net earnings (loss) 2  (28) 30  5  (62) (40) (16) (32)

Basic and fully diluted net        

  earnings (loss) per share ($) 0.02  (0.28) 0.30  0.05  (0.62) (0.40) (0.16) (0.32)

Comprehensive earnings (loss) 35  (36) 20  (20) (81) (43) 5  (29)        
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During the September 2015 quarter, the Company recorded an 
income tax expense of $3 million on a loss before income taxes 
of $29 million. The income tax expense reflected an $11 million 
unfavourable variance versus an anticipated income tax recovery 
of $8 million based on the Company’s effective tax rate of 26.2%. 
The income tax expense was increased by $6 million as the 
result of losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized.  
The Company has a significant balance of unrecognized tax 
assets relating to its Canadian operations since it has not 
been determined that the future realization of these assets is 
probable. The non-deductible portion of the foreign exchange 
loss on translation of debt increased the income tax expense by  
$5 million.

During the September 2014 quarter, the Company recorded an 
income tax expense of $7 million on earnings before income 
taxes of $12 million. The income tax expense reflected a  
$4 million unfavourable variance versus an anticipated income 
tax expense of $3 million based on the Company’s effective 
tax rate of 26.2%. The difference in statutory income tax rates 
increased the income tax expense by $1 million. This was caused 
by the higher corporate tax rate applicable to the Company’s 
French operations. The income tax expense was increased 
by $3 million as the result of losses for which no deferred tax 
asset was recognized. The Company has a significant balance of 
unrecognized tax assets relating to its Canadian operations since 
it has not been determined that the future realization of these 
assets is probable. The non-deductible portion of the foreign 
exchange loss on translation of debt increased the income 
tax expense by $2 million. Permanent differences and other  
tax adjustments reduced the income tax expense by $2 million.

During the September 2015 quarter, the Company recognized a 
loss of $12 million relating to the increase of the estimated net 
obligation for employee future benefits. The average discount 
rate applied to estimate the present value of future obligations 
increased from 3.96% to 4.04%, thereby reducing the net obligation 

by $8 million. The return on plan assets was less than the expected 
return, increasing the net obligation by $25 million. Due to the 
absence of current service costs in certain legacy pension plans, 
the Company is limited in its ability to recognize all plan assets 
held in trust. The recognition of previously unrecognized assets 
reduced the net obligation by $2 million. Changes to demographic 
assumptions and plan experience reduced the net obligation by 
$3 million.

During the September 2014 quarter, the Company recognized a 
loss of $20 million relating to the increase of the estimated net 
obligation for employee future benefits. The average discount 
rate applied to estimate the present value of future obligations 
decreased from 4.16% to 4.03%, thereby increasing the net 
obligation by $11 million. The return on plan assets did not meet 
the expected return, increasing the net obligation by $3 million. 
Due to the absence of current service costs in certain legacy 
pension plans, the Company is limited in its ability to recognize 
all plan assets held in trust. This increased the net obligation 
by $9 million. Changes to demographic assumptions and plan 
experience reduced the net obligation by $3 million.

Comprehensive items include gains or losses related to the 
currency translation of the assets and liabilities of the Company’s 
French and U.S. operations. The gains or losses are generated 
by changes in the end of period exchange rates. During the 
September 2015 quarter, the currency translation of the French 
operations generated a gain of $16 million. The currency 
translation of the U.S. operations generated a loss of $2 million. 
In the September 2014 quarter, the currency translation of the 
French operations generated a loss of $6 million.

The fourth quarter 2015 interim MD&A issued on November 19, 
2015, provides a more extensive analysis of items having impacted 
the Company’s fourth quarter financial results.
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Summary of quarterly results

On a quarterly basis, sales and margins were negatively impacted 
by relatively low lumber, paper pulp and newsprint US dollar 
prices. The movement in currency rates was beneficial to Canadian 
operations as the Canadian dollar declined from US $0.971 at the 
end of September 2013 to US $0.751 at the end of September 2015, 
averaging US $0.870 over the last eight quarters.

The Forest Products segment generated adjusted EBITDA of  
$29 million during the last eight quarters. This represents an 
average margin of 3.3% on sales of $870 million. The Company’s 
lumber shipment to capacity ratio averaged 83%. The U.S. housing 
market improved modestly, but lumber prices declined. The 
previously noted weaker Canadian dollar offset the decline in 
US dollar prices and selling prices and margins for the Company 
remained relatively unchanged year-over-year.

The Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment generated adjusted EBITDA 
of $88 million during the last eight quarters. This represents an 
average margin of 9.4% on sales of $939 million. Selling prices 
for specialty pulp generally weakened in the last eight quarters. 
Average margins declined from 13.3% in fiscal 2014 to 4.8% in 
fiscal 2015.

The Paper Pulp segment generated adjusted EBITDA of $19 million 
during the last eight quarters. This represents a margin of 3.1% on 
sales of $612 million. The market for paper pulp has been weak 
over the last two years. New hardwood capacity expansions in 
South America and the restart of idled high-yield pulp capacity in 
Canada have led to lower US dollar selling prices.

The Paper segment generated adjusted EBITDA of $59 million 
over the last eight quarters. This represents an average margin of 
8.7% on sales of $676 million. Higher US dollar prices for coated 
bleached board have offset lower newsprint US dollar prices over 
the last two years. Segment financial results have improved due 
to the weaker Canadian dollar.

Corporate general and administrative expenses of the Company 
have averaged approximately $4 million per quarter over the 
last two years and there has been no significant changes in the 
composition of those expenses.

Overall, the Company generated adjusted EBITDA of $160 million 
in the last eight quarters. This represents an average margin of 
approximately 5.5% on consolidated sales of $2.9 billion.

Corporate other items increased the Company’s operating 
earnings by $39 million during the last eight quarters. While there 
were several offsetting favourable and unfavourable items, the 
most significant favourable item was a $50 million gain from land 
sales. This was partially offset by $7 million spent on custodial 
costs for idled facilities and a $7 million charge for the termination 
of a defined benefit pension plan.

The Company recorded a loss of $107 million on the translation 
of its foreign-denominated debt over the last two years. However, 
the impact of the quarterly US debt translation gains and losses 
added considerable volatility to the financial results, with the 
impact ranging from a gain of $12 million in the June 2014 quarter 
to a loss of $38 million in the September 2015 quarter. 

During the last two years, the Company has recorded an income 
tax expense of $29 million. The expense relates primarily to its 
French operations as the Canadian operations have significant 
amounts of unrecognized tax assets.
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Cash flow from operations before working capital changes in  
fiscal 2015 was $53 million, compared to $38 million in the prior 
year. The increase in cash flow from operations was due to a  
$21 million decrease in income taxes paid for our French operations 
and a $13 million decrease in excess cash contributions for employee 
future benefits. These favourable items more than offset the  
$20 million decline in adjusted EBITDA. After allowing for capital 
expenditures of $57 million and interest on debt of $55 million, 
free cash flow in fiscal 2015 was negative $59 million compared 
to negative $162 million in the prior year. 

In fiscal 2015, non-cash working capital items used $33 million. 
The increase in working capital was caused primarily by a  
$29 million increase in inventories, with Paper segment inventories 
(+$16 million) and Paper Pulp segment inventories (+$9 million) 
accounting for the bulk of the increase. As a result, cash flow from 
operations declined from $22 million in fiscal 2014 to $20 million 
in fiscal 2015.

Capital spending

(in millions of dollars) 2014  2015

Forest Products 8     13    

Specialty Cellulose Pulp – Cogen project  

  Construction 117     19    

  Start-up 1     3    

Specialty Cellulose Pulp – Other 17     13    

Paper Pulp 4     5    

Paper 4     4    

Net capital expenditures 151     57    

As a % of consolidated sales 10.1% 4.0%

As a % of depreciation 408% 133%

Financial position and liquidity
Free cash flow

(in millions of dollars) 2014  2015

Cash flow from operations before working capital changes 38     53    

Less:  

  Additions to property, plant and equipment 151     57    

  Interest on debt 49     55    

Free cash flow (negative) (162)    (59)     
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During fiscal 2015, capital expenditures totalled $57 million, 
as compared to $151 million in the prior year. The lower level of 
capital expenditures relates to one relatively large capital project. In 
March 2012, the Company announced a major capital investment 
to upgrade its specialty cellulose mill in Temiscaming, Quebec. The 
project involved the replacement of three low-pressure boilers with 
a single new high-pressure boiler designed to burn waste sulphite 
liquor generated by the specialty cellulose manufacturing process. 
The project also included the installation of a new 50-megawatt 
electrical turbine. During fiscal 2015, $19 million was spent on 
the project construction costs, bringing total cumulative project 
expenditures to $273 million. The Company also incurred $3 million 
of start-up costs related to the project in fiscal 2015, bringing 
cumulative capitalized start-up costs to $4 million. The project is now 
complete and capital spending has ceased.

Commissioning of the boiler on natural gas began in late- 
November 2014. Commissioning of the turbine began in early  
January 2015, at which time the Company generated its first electricity 
sales. In late January, the Company successfully met the “commercial-
in-service” test set forth in the power purchase agreement with the 
public utility and began selling electricity at the higher “green” power 
rate. During the month of February 2015, the Company began the 
firing of pulp mill residual liquor in the new boiler. Since that time, 
a significant amount of effort and resources has been dedicated to 
ramping up the volume of liquor burned and optimizing the exhaust 
gas scrubber system and related equipment. In the September 2015 
quarter, the new boiler incinerated approximately 85% of the targeted 
quantity of liquor and, combined with the turbine, generated in 
excess of $4 million of net energy benefit as compared to the same 
quarter a year ago. Based on boiler and turbine operations to date, 
the Company is confident it will attain the $28 million of projected 
annual energy benefits. The Company has also set a target of  
$7 million per year in operating and maintenance cost reductions, or 
$1.75 million per quarter. During the September 2015 quarter, the 
Company continued to periodically operate the old boilers and was 
required to maintain them on operational readiness. As such, the 
Company estimates that very little of the projected operating and 
maintenance savings were realized in the September 2015 quarter. 
The ability to take the older boilers permanently “offline” will dictate 
the timing of these savings. Finally, the Company has guided for a 
potential $13 million per year productivity and margin enhancement 
associated with the production increase of 15,000 tonnes of specialty 
pulp. While the previously noted energy and cost benefits are near 
term items, the productivity and margin enhancement benefit will be 
dependent on the Company’s ability to generate additional specialty 
pulp sales volumes, which may require an extended period of time.

The Company estimates that annual capital expenditures of  
$35 million to $40 million are required to adequately maintain its 
facilities.
 
Acquisitions, investments and divestitures

In March 2014, the Company completed the sale of the Chetwynd, 
BC, high-yield pulp mill for a nominal amount. The sale generated 
a $1 million gain as the buyer assumed certain liabilities associated 
with the facility.

Financing activities

The Company’s long-term objective is to maintain the net debt 
to total capitalization ratio at 40% or less. A strong balance sheet 
provides the Company with the ability to access capital markets 
at favourable rates. The net debt to total capitalization ratio of the 
Company was 76% as at September 2015, as compared to 59% at 
the end of the prior fiscal year. The increase is due primarily to 
increased debt levels to finance the previously noted Temiscaming 
specialty cellulose cogeneration project as well as $81 million of 
foreign currency translation increases on outstanding US dollar 
denominated debt. The Company anticipates that the net debt 
to total capitalization ratio will gradually decrease as the new 
boiler and turbine installed at the Temiscaming specialty cellulose 
mill generate the projected incremental adjusted EBITDA.  
The Company should also benefit from the impact of a weaker 
Canadian dollar in terms of selling prices and competitiveness, 
gradually offsetting the negative impact of the previously noted 
translation losses on US dollar denominated debt.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

20152014201320122011

Net debt to total capitalization

27% 45% 52% 59% 76%

Actual

Objective < 40%

Actual

Objective < 40%

Actual

Objective < 40%



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

31Tembec Financial Report 2015

In October 2014, the Company completed a private debt offering 
of US $375 million — 9% senior secured notes. The secured notes 
mature in December 2019. A significant portion of the proceeds 
was utilized to purchase and redeem US $305 million — 11.25% 
senior secured notes, in addition to paying US $10 million 
of accrued interest and an early prepayment penalty of  
US $24 million.

In March 2012, the Company entered into a $75 million term loan 
facility to assist with the financing of the previously mentioned 
Temiscaming, Quebec, specialty cellulose cogeneration project. 
The interest rate on the facility is 5.5%. The loan has a 15½ -year 
term consisting of a 42-month construction or drawdown period 
followed by a 12-year monthly amortization period beginning 
in April 2016. The term of the loan will be shortened by three 
years if the Company does not complete certain future capital 
expenditures at the Temiscaming specialty cellulose mill. The loan 
is secured by a second ranking charge on the project assets. The 
Company has also granted the lender a five-year option starting 
on the first loan disbursement date to acquire 3 million common 
shares of Tembec at a price of $7 per share. This option expires 
on August 30, 2017. During the September 2013 quarter, the 

Company negotiated an additional tranche of project financing, 
effectively increasing the total funding from the lender to  
$93 million. This second $18 million tranche is also secured by 
a second ranking charge on project assets and the interest rate 
remains at 5.5%. This second tranche is repayable in 48 equal 
monthly instalments beginning in April 2016. In connection 
with the additional funding, the Company granted the lender a  
five-year option to acquire 712,000 common shares of Tembec at 
a price of $3.783 per share. This option expires on December 11, 
2018. As at the end of September 2015, the Company had drawn 
the entire $93 million.

Long-term debt

(in millions of dollars) 2014  2015

Tembec Industries – US $375 million 9% senior secured notes due December 2019 –  499 

Tembec Industries – US $305 million 11.25% senior secured notes due December 2018 340  – 

Temiscaming project financing – 5.5% secured term loan 86  93 

Temiscaming project financing – secured term loan – 6.35% tranche 20  19 

Temiscaming project financing – secured term loan – 6.86% tranche 20  19 

French operations 12  7 

Kirkland Lake Engineered Wood Products Inc. 9  – 

Other debt 2  1 

Total long-term debt 489  638 

Less unamortized financing costs 17  14 

 472  624 

Current portion included in above 17  11 
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In June 2012, the Company entered into a $30 million term 
loan facility to assist with the financing of the previously noted 
specialty cellulose cogeneration project in Temiscaming, Quebec. 
The interest rate on this loan is the greater of 6.35% and the yield 
on equivalent terms Government of Canada bonds plus 4.25% at 
the date the funds are advanced. The loan is secured by a first 
ranking charge on the project assets. In July 2012, the Company 
received $20 million representing the first advance under the 
facility. The interest rate on this advance was set at 6.35%. During 
the September 2013 quarter, the Company increased the size of 
the facility to $40 million. As part of the loan amendment, the 
terms of the remaining $10 million to be drawn on the original 
facility were amended to correspond to those of the new  
$10 million in funding. The initial $20 million drawn in July 2012 
is repayable in blended monthly instalments over an eight-year 
period beginning in July 2014, with a “balloon” payment of  
$12 million to be repaid in July 2022. During the December 2013 
quarter, the Company received the remaining $20 million on the 
facility. This second tranche bears interest at a rate of 6.86% and 
is repayable in blended monthly instalments over a period of eight 
years beginning in November 2014, with a “balloon” payment 
of $12 million to be repaid in October 2022. As at the end of 
September 2015, the Company has repaid $2 million of principal 
related to the term loan and $38 million remained outstanding.

The debt of the French operations relates to the Company’s 
specialty cellulose pulp mill. The decrease in debt was due to 
scheduled amortization payments.

During fiscal 2015, the Company arrived at a settlement agreement 
with the secured lenders of Kirkland Lake Engineered Wood 
Products Inc. (KLEWP). KLEWP is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Tembec, which owns a wood products facility that has been idle 
for several years. The debt is non-recourse in nature. In exchange 
for the extinguishment of this obligation, Tembec and the secured 
lenders have agreed to sell the facility on an “as is” basis and to 
divide the net proceeds based on a pre-arranged formula. At time 
of writing, the facility had not yet been sold.

Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) has assigned a B3 rating to 
the 9% senior secured notes and the same level for the Company’s 
corporate credit rating. Moody’s has a “negative” outlook with 
respect to its rating. Standard and Poor’s (S&P) has assigned a 
B- rating to the 9% senior secured notes and the same level for the 
Company’s corporate credit rating. S&P has a “negative” outlook 
with respect to its rating.

The Company has set an objective of maintaining a minimum  
liquidity of $135 million to $150 million. At the end of  
September 2015, the Company had total cash, including restricted 
cash, of $23 million plus unused operating lines of $33 million, for 
total liquidity of $56 million. At September 2014, the Company 
had net cash of $42 million and unused operating lines of  
$42 million, for total liquidity of $84 million. Subsequent to the end 
of fiscal 2015, on November 18, 2015, the Company announced 
that it had entered into a new ABL (see Subsequent Event). After 
giving effect to the refinancing, the Company’s total liquidity at 
November 18, 2015, was approximately $112 million. While total 
liquidity remained below its objective, the lower on-going capital 
expenditures as well as the projected incremental adjusted EBITDA 
of the Temiscaming cogeneration project will positively impact 
cash flow and liquidity in future periods.

Operating lines

The following table summarizes the unused operating lines at the end 

of the last two fiscal years:

(in millions of dollars) 2014  2015 

Borrowing base 188  210 

Less: permanent availability reserve –  (15)

Less: variable availability reserve (3) (2)

Net availability 185  193 

Outstanding letters of credit (56) (46)

Amount drawn (87) (114)

Unused amount 42  33 
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At the end of fiscal 2015, the Company had a $175 million ABL 
facility expiring in March 2018. The ABL had a first priority charge 
over the receivables and inventories of the Company’s Canadian 
operations. As at September 26, 2015, an amount of $111 million 
was drawn on the ABL facility and a further $33 million was utilized 
to issue letters of credit. As noted previously, the ABL facility 
was refinanced on November 18, 2015 (see Subsequent Event).  
The new ABL consists of a $150 million revolving loan and a  
US $62 million FILO loan. The revolving loan will expire on 
November 18, 2020, provided several conditions are met, 
including repayment of the FILO loan prior to March 2, 2018, 
failing which the maturity would be accelerated to an earlier 
date, but not earlier than March 2, 2018. The revolving loan has 
a first priority charge over the receivables and inventories of 
the Company’s Canadian and U.S. operations. The FILO loan is 
secured by the same collateral as the revolving loan and ranks 
second in repayment priority relative to the revolving loan. The 
FILO loan is also secured by a first priority charge on the fixed 
assets of one of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries.

The Company also has a dedicated unsecured credit facility that 
can only be utilized to issue letters of credit. As at September 2015, 
there were $13 million of outstanding letters of credit issued on 
this facility.

The French operations are supported by “receivable factoring” 
agreements. As such, the borrowing base fluctuates periodically, 
depending on shipments and cash receipts. As at September 2015, 
an amount of $3 million was drawn on these facilities.

The outstanding letters of credit constitute security for 
various operating items, principally the unfunded portion of 
supplementary retirement plans, future landfill closure liabilities 
and performance guarantees related to electricity generation 
agreements.

Common shares

(in millions) 2014 2015 

Shares outstanding – opening 100  100 

Shares outstanding – ending 100  100

There were no shares issued in fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2015.

Pursuant to options granted under the prior Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (LTIP), an additional 45,084 shares may be issued.  
The weighted average exercise price of the options was $29.93 per 
share as at September 26, 2015, and they will expire in 2016. As 
at September 26, 2015, all of the options were exercisable.

In connection with the $75 million second ranking term loan 
facility, the Company has granted the lender an option to 
acquire 3 million common shares of the Corporation at a price 
of $7 per share. The warrants expire on August 30, 2017.  
In connection with the $18 million second ranking term loan 
facility, the Company has granted the lender an option to acquire  
712,000 common shares of the Corporation at a price of  
$3.783 per share. The warrants expire on December 11, 2018. 
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The carrying values for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, 
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, operating bank 
loans, trade, other payables and accrued charges, and interest 
payable approximate their fair values due to the near-term 
maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of the long-term debt was reduced by $145 million 
as the Company’s US $375 million senior notes were trading below 
par at year-end. The balance of the difference relates primarily to 
unamortized financing costs of $14 million, which were netted 
against the long-term debt carrying value.

Financial risks

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that entities to which the 
Company sells products may experience financial difficulty and 
be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations. The Company 
does not have a significant exposure to any individual customer 
or counterparty. The Company reviews a new customer’s credit 
history before extending credit and conducts regular reviews of 
its existing customers’ credit performance. All credit limits are 
subject to evaluation and revision at any time based on changes 
in levels of creditworthiness and must be reviewed at least once 
per year. Sales orders cannot be processed unless a credit limit 

has been properly approved. The Company may require payment 
guarantees, such as letters of credit, or obtain credit insurance 
coverage. Bad debt expense has not been significant in the past. 
The allowance for doubtful accounts at September 2015 was 
negligible as compared to $1 million at the end of the prior year.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company will 
not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company has an objective of maintaining liquidity equal to 
12 months of maintenance capital expenditures, interest and 
principal repayments and seasonal working capital requirements, 
which would require approximately $135 million to $150 million 
of liquidity. As noted previously, the Company had total cash of 
$23 million plus unused operating lines of $33 million, for total 
liquidity of $56 million as at September 26, 2015. Subsequent 
to the end of fiscal 2015, on November 18, 2015, the Company 
announced that it had entered into a new ABL (see Subsequent 
Event). After giving effect to the refinancing, the Company’s total 
liquidity at November 18, 2015, was approximately $112 million. 
While total liquidity remained below its objective, the lower  
on-going capital expenditures as well as the projected incremental 
adjusted EBITDA of the Temiscaming cogeneration project will 
positively impact cash flow and liquidity in future periods.

Financial instruments and contractual obligations
Financial assets and liabilities

As at September 26, 2015  
(in millions of dollars) Carrying value Fair value

Financial assets  

  Cash and cash equivalents 21  21 

  Restricted cash 2  2 

  Trade and other receivables 161  161 

  Loans receivable 3  3 

Financial liabilities  

  Operating bank loans 114  114 

  Trade, other payables and accrued charges 188  188 

  Interest payable 13  13 

  Long-term debt (including current portion) 624  494  
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The Company’s liquidity is dependent on generating a sufficient 
amount of adjusted EBITDA and cash flow from operations. Based 
on existing liquidity, current initiatives to obtain additional liquidity 
and anticipated future operating cash flow, the Company believes 
that it will be able to adequately fund its operations and meet its 
future obligations as they become due. This determination could 
be impacted by economic, financial, competitive, legislative and 
regulatory factors, as well as other events, that are beyond the 
Company’s control.

Foreign currency risk
This item is discussed in detail in a subsequent section of the 
MD&A, “Significant Risks and Uncertainties”.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. This will have little impact on the Company’s 
financial results since the majority of the Company’s debts are at 
fixed interest rates.

Commodity price and operational risk
These items are discussed in detail in a subsequent section of the 
MD&A, “Significant Risks and Uncertainties”.

Contractual obligations

The following table shows the Company’s contractual obligations 
as at September 26, 2015. The Company has long-term debt with 
contractual maturities and applicable interest. Pension obligations 

past service costs include estimated solvency and going concern 
amortization payments.

Other contractual obligations not included in the table above are:

•  Operating lease obligations totalling $7 million, related primarily 
to property and equipment rentals entered into the normal 
course of business.

•  Outstanding payable and accruals of $4 million related to capital 
expenditures.

 

•  Purchase obligations related to ongoing normal commercial 
commitments to purchase timber, fibre, energy, chemicals and 
other operating inputs. Many of the obligations are subject 
to “force majeure” clauses and may vary significantly from 
contracted amounts depending on the Company’s requirements.

  Within 1 2 – 3 4 – 5 After 5 
(in millions of dollars) Total year years years years

Long-term debt 638  11  28  527  72  

Interest on long-term debt 230  52  104  65  9  

Pension obligations – past service costs 55  10  12  10  23 

 923  73  144  602  104 
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In this section, current year refers to fiscal 2014 and prior year 
refers to fiscal 2013.

Sales decreased by $43 million compared to the prior year. 
Currency was a positive factor as the Canadian dollar averaged 
US $0.924, a 6.2% decrease from US $0.985 a year ago. Forest 
Products segment sales increased by $12 million as a result of 
higher selling prices, partially offset by lower shipments. Specialty 
Cellulose Pulp segment sales increased by $43 million due to 
higher shipments and prices. Paper Pulp segment sales declined 
by $108 million due to lower shipments, partially offset by higher 
prices. Paper segment sales increased by $7 million as higher 
prices were partially offset by lower shipments.

In fiscal 2014, adjusted EBITDA declined by $7 million compared 
to the prior year. Forest Products segment adjusted EBITDA 
increased by $1 million due to higher prices, offset by higher 
costs. Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment adjusted EBITDA declined 
by $6 million due to higher costs, partially offset by higher selling 
prices. Paper Pulp segment adjusted EBITDA increased by  
$1 million as higher prices were largely offset by higher costs. 
Paper segment adjusted EBITDA decreased by $4 million due to 
higher costs, offset by higher prices.

2014 vs. 2013

Financial summary

(in millions of dollars, unless otherwise noted) 2013    2014  

Sales 1,534    1,491   

Adjusted EBITDA 97    90   

Depreciation and amortization 40    37   

Other items 29    (35)  

Operating earnings 28    88   

Net earnings (loss) (39)   9   

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) in dollars per share (0.39)   0.09   

Total assets (at year-end) 1,021    1,155   

Total long-term debt (at year-end) (1) 385    472   

Total long-term liabilities (at year-end) 510    603   

(1) Includes current portion

Operating earnings (loss)

    Adjusted  Other 
   Total EBITDA Depreciation items 
(in millions of dollars) 2013 2014 variance variance variance variance

Forest Products 7  10  3  1  2  – 

Specialty Cellulose Pulp 59  52  (7) (6) (1) – 

Paper Pulp (32) (5) 27  1  3  23 

Paper 22  18  (4) (4) –  – 

Corporate (28) 13  41  1  (1) 41 

 28  88  60  (7) 3  64 
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The Company generated operating earnings of $88 million 
compared to operating earnings of $28 million a year ago.  
The improvement in operating results is due primarily to a 
favourable variance in other items, which more than offset 
the decrease in adjusted EBITDA. In the most recent year, the 
Company realized a gain of $49 million from the sale of BC lands. 
In the prior year, the Company had absorbed a $23 million charge 
related to the impairment and sale of the Skookumchuck, BC, 
NBSK pulp mill.

The Forest Products segment generated operating earnings of 
$10 million, as compared to operating earnings of $7 million in 
fiscal 2013. In addition to the previously noted improvement 
in adjusted EBITDA, the segment also benefited from lower 
depreciation expense. 

The Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment generated operating 
earnings of $52 million compared to operating earnings of  
$59 million in the prior year. The previously noted decline in 
adjusted EBITDA led to the lower operating earnings.

The Paper Pulp segment generated an operating loss of $5 million 
compared to an operating loss of $32 million in the prior year. In 
addition to the previously noted improvement in adjusted EBITDA, 
the segment saw depreciation expense decline by $3 million due 
to the sale of the Skookumchuck, BC, NBSK pulp mill. The prior 
year operating results included a $22 million asset impairment 
charge and a subsequent $1 million loss on sale related to the 
Skookumchuck pulp mill.

The Paper segment operating results declined by $4 million due 
to the previously noted reduction in adjusted EBITDA.

Corporate segment results improved by $41 million, primarily 
due to “other items”. The current year results include a gain of  
$49 million relating to land sales. It also includes a charge of  
$7 million for the termination of a defined benefit pension plan.

The Corporate segment’s “other items” include expenses 
relating to several permanently idled facilities. The costs relate 
to custodial, site security, legal, pension administration and 
remediation activities. These “legacy” costs totalled $5 million in 
fiscal 2014 compared to $8 million a year ago. During the year 
ended September 2013, the Company sold the Cranbrook, BC, 
office and realized a gain of $2 million. During the year ended 
September 2014, the Company recorded six BC land sales 
transactions for total consideration of $60 million and recorded 
a gain of $49 million. During the December 2013 quarter, the 
Company reorganized certain functions and roles and recorded 
a charge of $3 million relating to severance costs associated 
with personnel reductions. In March 2014, the Company 
completed the sale of the Chetwynd, BC, high-yield pulp mill 
for a nominal amount. The sale generated a $1 million gain as 
the buyer assumed certain liabilities associated with the facility. 
During the March 2014 quarter, the Company terminated its BC 
defined benefit pension plan and recorded a charge of $7 million.  
The Company entered into an agreement with an insurance 
company to settle a $55 million pension obligation for an amount of  
$62 million, which was equivalent to the amount of plan assets 
held in trust at the time of the settlement.

Interest, foreign exchange and other

(in millions of dollars) 2013 2014

Interest on debt 42  49 

Capitalized interest (9) (18)

Foreign exchange items (1) (5)

Employee future benefits 10  4 

Bank charges and other 3  3 

 45  33 
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The interest expense relates primarily to interest on the  
US $305 million — 11.25% senior secured notes maturing in 
December 2018. The $7 million increase in interest expense is due 
primarily to new project debt incurred to fund the Temiscaming, 
QC, specialty cellulose cogeneration project, which had reached 
$126 million at the end of September 2014. The increase in 
capitalized interest is also related to the Temiscaming, QC, 
specialty cellulose cogeneration project. Foreign exchange items 
are primarily caused by gains or losses on the translation of 
US dollar net monetary assets. The charge for employee future 
benefits relates to interest accretion on net unfunded obligations.

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded a loss of $26 million 
on the translation of its US dollar denominated debt as the 
relative value of the Canadian dollar decreased from US $0.971 to  
US $0.896. During fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a loss 
of $14 million on the translation of its US dollar denominated 
debt as the relative value of the Canadian dollar decreased from  
US $1.017 to US $0.971.

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded an income tax expense 
of $20 million on earnings before income taxes of $29 million. 
The income tax expense reflected a $13 million unfavourable 
variance versus an anticipated income tax expense of  
$7 million based on the Company’s effective tax rate of 26.2%.  
The difference in statutory income tax rates increased the 
income tax expense by $5 million. This was caused by the higher 

corporate tax rate applicable to the Company’s French operations.  
The Company absorbed a $6 million unfavourable variance related 
to period losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized. 
The Company has a significant balance of unrecognized tax 
assets relating to its Canadian operations since it has not been 
determined that the future realization of these assets is probable. 
Permanent differences and other tax adjustments increased the 
tax expense by $2 million.

During fiscal 2013, the Company recorded an income tax expense 
of $8 million on a loss before income taxes of $31 million.  
The income tax expense reflected a $16 million unfavourable 
variance versus an anticipated income tax recovery of  
$8 million based on the Company’s effective tax rate of 26.3%. 
The difference in statutory income tax rates increased the income 
tax expense by $1 million. This included an increase of $6 million 
due to the higher corporate tax rate applicable to the Company’s 
French operations, partially offset by a decrease of $5 million 
due to reduced operations in the Province of BC. The Company 
absorbed a $13 million unfavourable variance related to period 
losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized. Based 
on past financial performance, deferred income tax assets of the 
Company’s Canadian operations have not been recognized as it 
has not been determined that future realization of these assets 
is probable. Permanent differences and other tax adjustments 
increased the tax expense by $2 million. 

(in millions of dollars) 2013 2014

Net earnings (loss) (39) 9 

  Employee future benefit loss 151  (13)

  Income tax expense (11) – 

  Foreign currency translation gain on foreign operations 15  3 

Total comprehensive earnings (loss) 116  (1)

Comprehensive earnings (loss)

The following table summarizes the impact of items affecting the reported total comprehensive earnings (loss) during the years  
ended September 2014 and September 2013:

Net earnings (loss)

The Company generated net earnings of $9 million or $0.09 per share for the year ended September 27, 2014, compared to a net loss 
of $39 million or $0.39 per share for the year ended September 28, 2013.
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During fiscal 2014, the Company recognized a loss of $13 million 
relating to the increase of the estimated net obligation for 
employee future benefits. The average discount rate applied to 
estimate the present value of future obligations decreased from 
4.60% to 4.03%, thereby increasing estimated future obligations 
by $58 million. The return on plan assets exceeded the expected 
return by $67 million, reducing net future obligations. Due to 
the absence of current service costs in certain legacy pension 
plans, the Company is limited in its ability to recognize all plan 
assets held in trust. This generated an unfavourable variance of  
$9 million in fiscal 2014. Changes to demographic assumptions 
and plan experience increased net obligations by $13 million.

During fiscal 2013, the Company recognized a gain of $151 million 
relating to the reduction of the estimated net obligation for 
employee future benefits. The average discount rate applied to 

estimate the present value of future obligations increased from 
3.69% to 4.60%, thereby reducing estimated future obligations by 
$103 million. As well, the actual return on plan assets exceeded 
the expected return by $50 million. The limitation on the 
recognition of pension plan assets held in trust was unfavourable 
by $1 million. Changes to demographic assumptions and plan 
experience increased net obligations by $1 million.

Comprehensive items include gains or losses related to the 
currency translation of the assets and liabilities of the Company’s 
French and U.S. operations. The gains or losses are generated by 
changes in the end of period exchange rates. During fiscal 2014, 
the currency translation of the French operations generated a 
gain of $3 million. In the prior year, the currency translation of the 
French operations generated a gain of $16 million. The currency 
translation of the U.S. operations generated a loss of $1 million.

Property, plant and equipment depreciation
The Company records its property, plant and equipment, 
primarily production buildings and equipment, at cost. Interest 
costs are capitalized for projects in excess of $1 million that 
have a duration in excess of one year. Investment tax credits 
or capital assistance received reduce the cost of the related 
assets. Property, plant and equipment acquired as a result of a 
business acquisition are recorded at their estimated fair value. 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided over 
their estimated useful lives, generally on a straight-line basis. 
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
are based on judgement and the best currently available 
information. Changes in circumstances can result in the actual 
useful lives differing from the Company’s estimates. Revisions 
to the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
constitute a change in accounting estimate and are dealt with 
prospectively by amending the amount of future depreciation 
expense. There were no significant revisions to the estimated 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment in fiscal 2015 and 
fiscal 2014.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Company must review the carrying value of non-financial 
assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the value may have been impaired and is not recoverable 
through future operations and cash flows. If any such indication 
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. An impairment 
loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized 
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognized in prior periods 
is assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized. To estimate future cash flows, the 
Company uses operating and financial assumptions, primarily 
those contained in its most recent multi-year operating plan. 
There were no material asset impairment charges in fiscal 2014  
and fiscal 2015.

Critical accounting estimates
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Employee future benefits
The Company contributes to several defined benefit pension plans, 
primarily related to employees covered by collective bargaining 
agreements. The Company also provides post-retirement benefits 
to retirees, primarily healthcare related. For post-retirement 
benefits, funding of disbursements is done on a “pay as you 
go” basis. The Company uses an independent actuarial firm to 
quantify the amount of pension and post-retirement obligations. 
The Company, based on its own experience and recommendations 
from its actuarial firm, evaluates the underlying assumptions on 
an annual basis. Discount rates utilized to calculate the present 
value of future obligations are prescribed by IFRS accounting 
standards. Changes in estimates or assumptions can have a 
substantial impact on the amount of pension and post-retirement 
benefit expense, the carrying values on the balance sheet, and, 
in the case of defined benefit plans, the amount of plan surplus 
or deficit. 

At September 26, 2015, the fair value of defined benefit pension 
plan assets was $803 million, an amount equal to 91% of the 
estimated accrued benefit pension obligations of $879 million, 
generating a shortfall of $76 million. The plan deficit was  
$68 million at the end of the prior year. The deficit increase of  
$8 million that occurred over the 12-month period was due to 
several items as noted in the following table:

(in millions of dollars) 

Deficit – September 27, 2014  (68)

  Return on plan assets exceeding  
    obligation interest accretion  2 

  Employer contributions in excess of current  
    service costs  7 

  Increase in discount rate  1 

  Changes to demographic assumptions  
    and plan experience  (9)

  Administration costs,  
    foreign exchange and other  (9)

Deficit – September 26, 2015  (76)

The deficit was decreased by $2 million as the return on plan 
assets totalled $36 million, exceeding the $34 million of obligation 
interest accretion. The deficit was further reduced by $7 million 
as employer contributions of $17 million exceeded current service 
costs of $10 million. The average discount rate applied to estimate 
the present value of future obligations increased from 4.03%  
to 4.04%, thereby decreasing estimated future obligations by  
$1 million. The discount rate is tied to rates applicable to  
high-quality corporate bonds (AA or higher) in effect at the end 
of the fiscal year. Changes to demographic assumptions and plan 
experience increased net obligations by $9 million.

Pension expense included in cost of sales in fiscal 2015 was  
$11 million, as compared to $10 million in the prior year. Based on 
current assumptions, pension expense in fiscal 2016 is expected 
to be approximately $10 million. Employer contributions to 
defined benefit pension plans totalled $17 million in fiscal 2015 
as compared to $27 million in fiscal 2014. Employer contributions 
in fiscal 2016 are expected to be approximately $17 million. There 
is no assurance that current assumptions will materialize in future 
periods. The defined benefit pension plans may be unable to earn 
the satisfactory rates of return. Market driven changes to discount 
rates and other assumptions may result in changes to anticipated 
Company contribution amounts.

With regard to other employee future benefit plans, the 
accrued benefit obligation at September 2015 was $28 million, 
as compared to $29 million at the end of the prior year.  
The previously noted increase in discount rates generated an 
actuarial gain, reducing the obligation by $1 million. Employer 
contribution for the employee future benefit plans totalled 
$2 million in fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2015. Based on current 
assumptions, the amount of employer contributions in fiscal 2016 
are expected to be approximately $2 million.
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The following summarizes non-IFRS financial measures utilized 
in the MD&A. As there is no generally accepted method of 
calculating these financial measures, they may not be comparable 
to similar measures reported by other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation, amortization and other items. Since the Company 
excludes “other items” such as gains and losses on significant 
asset disposals, restructuring charges and custodial costs for 
permanently idled facilities, it differs from EBITDA. Adjusted 
EBITDA does not have any standardized meaning according to 
IFRS. The Company defines adjusted EBITDA as sales less cost of 
sales and selling, general and administrative expenses, meaning it 
represents operating earnings before depreciation, amortization 
and other items. The Company considers adjusted EBITDA to be  
a useful indicator of the financial performance of the Company, 
the business segments and the individual business units.  
The most comparable financial measure is operating earnings or 
loss. The following table is a reconciliation of operating earnings 
to the Company’s definition of adjusted EBITDA:

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015

Operating earnings 88  31 

Depreciation and amortization 37  43 

Other items (35)  (4) 

Adjusted EBITDA 90  70

Free cash flow refers to cash provided by operating activities 
before changes in non-cash working capital balances less interest 
expense and capital expenditures. Working capital changes are 
excluded as they are often seasonal and temporary in nature.  
The Company considers free cash flow to be a useful indicator of 
its ability to generate discretionary cash flow, thereby improving 
its overall liquidity position.

Net debt refers to debt less cash, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents.

Total capitalization refers to net debt plus deferred tax liabilities, 
employee future benefit liabilities, provisions, other long-term 
liabilities, and shareholders’ equity.

Net debt to total capitalization is used by the Company to 
measure its financial leverage.

(in millions of dollars) 2014 2015

Long-term debt 455  613

Net unamortized financing costs 17  14 

Current portion of long-term debt 17  11 

Operating bank loans/ 
  Bank indebtedness 87  114 

Less: total cash (42) (23)

Net debt 534  729 

Long-term liabilities 148  162 

Shareholders’ equity 219  71 

Total capitalization 901  962 

Net debt to total 
  capitalization ratio 59% 76%

Use of non-IFRS financial measures

Deferred income taxes
Deferred income tax is provided for using the asset and liability 
method and recognizes temporary differences between the tax 
values and the financial statement carrying amounts of balance 
sheet items as well as certain carry forward items. The Company 
only recognizes a deferred income tax asset to the extent that 

the future realization of the tax asset is probable. This is based on 
estimates and assumptions as to the future financial performance 
of the various taxable legal entities in the various tax jurisdictions. 
At September 26, 2015, the Company had unrecognized deferred 
tax assets of $589 million, as compared to $554 million at the end 
of the prior year.
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Changes in accounting policies and estimates

Impact of accounting pronouncements on future reporting periods
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the IASB released IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers, which establishes principles for reporting the 
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. It provides a 
single model in order to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity 
recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods and services. IFRS 15 also requires more comprehensive 
disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty  
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts  
with customers.

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, 
Revenue, and a number of revenue-related interpretations  
(IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programs, IFRIC 15, Agreements  

for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets 

from Customers, and SIC-31, Revenue — Barter Transactions 

Involving Advertising Service). IFRS 15 will be effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption 
permitted. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the 
adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements 
and does not plan to early adopt the new requirement.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial 

Instruments (IFRS 9). IFRS 9 supersedes IAS 39, IFRIC 9 and 
earlier versions of IFRS 9 and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption 
permitted. This standard provides guidance on the classification 
and measurement of financial liabilities and the presentation of 
gains and losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit and loss. When an entity elects to measure a 
financial liability at fair value, gains or losses due to changes in 
the credit risk of the instrument must be recognized in other 
comprehensive income. The Company has not yet begun the 
process of assessing the impact that the new standard will have 
on its financial statements and does not plan to early adopt the 
new requirement.

There are no other standards or amendments or interpretations of 
existing standards issued but not yet effective that are expected 
to have a material impact on our financial statements.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

At the beginning of fiscal 2014, the Company adopted the 
amended IAS 19, Employee Benefits, which changes the 
recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension plans 
expense, other benefit plans expense, termination benefits and 
enhances the disclosure of employee future benefits.

There were no other new standards impacting the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements in fiscal 2014 or fiscal 2015.
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Product prices 

The Company’s financial performance is dependent on the selling 
prices of its products. The markets for lumber, paper pulp and 
paper products are cyclical and are influenced by a variety of 
factors. These factors include periods of excess product supply 
due to industry capacity additions, periods of decreased demand 
due to weak general economic activity, inventory de-stocking by 
customers, and fluctuations in currency exchange rates. During 
periods of low prices, the Company is subject to reduced revenues 
and margins, resulting in substantial declines in profitability and 
possibly net losses.

Based on 2015 actual sales volumes, the following table illustrates 
the approximate annual impact of changes to average Canadian 
dollar selling prices on adjusted EBITDA:

Selling price sensitivity

 Impact on  Average selling 
 adjusted EBITDA prices ($/unit) 
 ($ millions) Sept. 2015  
  quarter

Specialty cellulose pulp 
  – $25/tonne 4 1,418

Paper pulp – $25/tonne  8 627

Coated bleached board  
  and newsprint – $25/tonne 6 1,028

SPF lumber – $10/mbf 5 429

The Company’s strategy is to develop niche products where 
possible; maintain low cost, high-quality flexible production 
facilities; establish and develop long-term relationships with its 
customers. In addition, the Company may periodically purchase 
lumber, pulp and newsprint derivative commodity contracts to 
mitigate the impact of price volatility. At September 26, 2015 
and September 27, 2014, the Company did not hold any product 
derivative commodity contracts.

Foreign exchange

The Company’s revenues for most of its products are affected 
by fluctuations in the relative exchange rates of the US dollar 
as compared to the Canadian dollar. The Company generated 
approximately US $740 million of US dollar denominated sales 
from its Canadian operations in fiscal 2015. As a result, any 
increase in the value of the US dollar relative to the Canadian 
dollar increases the amount of revenues realized on sales in 
local currency. The Company’s foreign exchange exposure to 
fluctuations in the relative exchange rate of the euro compared 
to the Canadian dollar is not significant as the Tartas specialty 
cellulose mill’s sales and costs are both largely euro denominated. 
In addition, since business units purchase the majority of their 
production inputs in local currency, fluctuations in foreign 
exchange can significantly affect the unit’s relative cost position 
when compared to competing manufacturing sites in other 
currency jurisdictions.

Significant risks and uncertainties
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Based on 2015 sales volumes and prices, the following table 
illustrates the impact of a 1% change in the value of the US dollar 
versus the Canadian dollar. For illustrative purposes, an increase 
of 1% in the value of the US dollar is assumed. A decrease would 
have the opposite effects of those shown below:

Foreign exchange sensitivity
(in millions of dollars)

Sales increase  9 

Cost of sales increase  3 

Adjusted EBITDA increase  6 

Interest expense increase  – 

Cash flow increase  6 

Loss on translation  
  of US dollar denominated debt  4  

Pre-tax earnings increase  2

Direct US dollar purchases of raw materials, supplies and 
services for the Canadian operations totalled approximately 
$232 million in fiscal 2015 and provided a partial offset to the 
impact on sales. The above does not include the potential 
indirect impact of currency on the cost of items purchased in 
Canadian dollars.

To potentially further reduce the impact of fluctuations in the 
value of the US dollar, the Company has a policy which 
permits hedging up to 50% of its anticipated US dollar net 
receipts for up to 36 months in duration. At September 26, 
2015 and September 27, 2014, the Company did not hold any 
foreign exchange contracts.

Operational risks

The manufacturing activities conducted by the Company’s 
operations are subject to a number of r isks including 
avai labi l i ty and pr ice of f ibre,  competit ive pr ices for 
purchased energy, a productive and reliable workforce, 
compliance with environmental regulations, maintenance and 
replacement/upgrade of process equipment to manufacture 
competitive quality products and the requirement to operate 
the manufacturing facilities at high rates of utilization and 
efficiency to maintain a competitive cost structure.

Fibre represents the Company’s major raw material in the 
production of wood products, pulp and paper. In Canada, 
virgin fibre or timber is sourced primarily by agreements 
with provincial governments. The agreements are granted for 
various terms from five to 20 years and are generally subject to 
regular renewals every five years. The agreements incorporate 
commitments with respect to sustainable forest management, 
s i lv icultural  work,  forest and soi l  renewal,  as wel l  as 
cooperation with other forest users. In addition, the Company 
has undertaken, on a voluntary basis, to have its timber 
harvesting certified by the Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC®). 
The Company expects the agreements to be extended as 
they come up for renewal. Aboriginal groups have claimed 
substantial portions of land in various provinces over which 
they claim aboriginal title or in which they have a traditional 
interest and for which they are seeking compensation from 
various levels of government. The Company has taken a 
proactive approach to enhance the economic participation 
of First Nations in its operations wherever feasible. The 
Company’s operation in France sources its fibre requirements 
from various private sources, primarily through long-term 
supply arrangements. 
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Energy is an important component of mill costs, especially 
for high-yield pulp mil ls and newsprint mil ls.  In 2015, 
purchased energy costs totalled approximately $100 million, 
including $53 million for electricity, $29 million for fossil 
fuels and $18 million for wood biomass purchases. Electrical 
purchases are made primarily from large public utilities, at 
rates set by regulating bodies. At certain sites, the Company 
produces electrical energy that is sold to the public utility. 
The $53 million noted previously is net of electricity sales. 
In certain jurisdictions, electricity is deregulated, which 
can lead to greater price volatility. To mitigate the effect of 
price fluctuations on its financial performance, the Company 
employs several tactics, including the securing of longer term 
supply agreements, the purchase of derivative commodity 
contracts and operational curtailments in periods of high 
prices (load shedding). At September 2015 and 2014, the 
Company did not hold any derivative commodity contracts 
relating to purchased electricity. Fossil fuels, primarily natural 
gas, are purchased at market rates. The Company periodically 
purchases derivative commodity contracts to reduce its 
exposure. At September 2015 and 2014, the Company did 
not hold any natural gas derivative commodity contracts. 

Nearly al l  the Company’s manufactur ing units have a 
unionized workforce. Over the past 40 years, the Company 
has successfully negotiated new collective agreements in 
nearly all instances, with relatively few work stoppages. 
At many of the Company’s facilities, as well as those of 
the North American industry as a whole, we have seen 
reductions in employment levels resulting from technological 
and process improvements resulting in a workforce with 
more years of service. This increases the relative costs of 
pensions and benefits. At September 2015, the Company 
had approximately 2,454 employees covered by collective 
bargaining agreements. At the end of fiscal 2015, there 
were three agreements covering 129 employees that had 
expired. In fiscal 2016, three collective agreements covering 
69 employees will expire. The remaining contracts expire at 
various dates up to July 2022. The Company anticipates it will 
reach satisfactory agreements on contracts currently under 
active negotiations and those expiring in the future.

The Company’s operations are subject to industry-specific 
environmental regulations relating to air emissions, wastewater 
(effluent) discharges, solid waste, landfill operations, forestry 
practices, and site remediation. The Company has made 
significant progress in reducing the environmental impact 
of its operations. This has occurred as a result of changes 
in manufacturing processes, the installation of specialized 
equipment to treat/eliminate the materials being discharged 
and the implementation of standardized practices such  
as ISO 14001.

The production of lumber, pulp and paper is capital intensive. 
The Company estimates that it must invest approximately 
$35 million to $40 million per year on capital expenditures to 
avoid degradation of its current operations. As the majority 
of the funding is provided by cash flow from operations, there 
can be no assurance that the funds will be available to meet 
all of the Company’s capital expenditure needs. Failure to 
reinvest can lead to older equipment that is less productive, 
less reliable and more costly to maintain and operate. The 
risk of technological obsolescence also increases. Capital 
expenditure projects can be large in scale, requiring the 
Company to maintain and/or acquire expertise in the design, 
planning and execution of major capital projects. There are 
inherent risks in the capital expenditure process, including 
the potential for project cost overruns, new equipment that 
does not perform to anticipated or projected levels, a lengthy 
start-up period and disruptions to normal operations. Due to 
relatively low operating cash flow generation over the last 
several years, the Company has limited capital expenditures. 
This has led to a “backlog” of capital expenditure projects in 
many operating facilities. 

Because of the relatively high fixed cost component of certain 
manufacturing processes, especially in pulp and paper, the 
operations are 24/7 with target efficiency in the 80-85% 
range. Failure to operate at these levels jeopardizes the 
continued existence of a mill. Producers are forced to operate 
the facilities at “full” rate even when demand is not sufficient 
to absorb all of the output. This can lead to oversupply and 
lower prices, further increasing the inherent cyclicality of  
the industry.
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Trade restrictions

The Company’s manufacturing operations are located 
primarily in Canada. However, sales into the Canadian market 
represented only 20% of consolidated sales in fiscal 2015.  
As such, the Company’s financial results are highly dependent 
on its ability to sell its products into the “export” markets. 
Tariffs and trade barriers that reduce or prohibit the movement 
of our products across international borders constitute  
an ongoing risk. The agreement between Canada and the  
United States over softwood lumber is a case in point. On 
October 12,2006, Canada and the United States entered into 
an agreement to govern the shipment of Canadian softwood 
lumber into the United States. The outcome was less than 
satisfactory. Through a combination of quotas and export taxes, 
the agreement ensured that Canadian producers of softwood 
lumber remained at a competitive disadvantage versus 
U.S. producers when it came to accessing the U.S. market. 
The softwood lumber agreement expired in October 2015. 
The agreement provided for a one-year moratorium on 
any trade action after its expiry. The Company does not 
anticipate that the current “free trade” environment will 
last beyond the prescribed 12-month period. The United States 
government will likely impose or negotiate future measures 
to limit the flow of Canadian lumber into the U.S. market. 
China has imposed antidumping duties on viscose grade 
pulp imports. As a result, the Company has had to find new 
customers outside of China.

Financial risks / debt service

Of the total long-term debt of $638 million, 78% relates to 
the US $375 million — 9% senior secured notes maturing 
December 2019. The 9% notes do not require periodic 
payments for principal amortization. Since the entire principal 
amount will become due on the maturity date, it is possible 
the Company will not have the required funds/liquidity to 
repay the principal due. The Company may require access 
to the public or private debt markets to issue new debt 
instruments to replace or partially replace the notes. There is 
no assurance that the Company will be able to refinance the 
notes on commercially acceptable terms.

In addition to the above significant risks, the Company’s 
Annual Information Form (AIF) provides a comprehensive list 
of potential risk factors related to the Company’s operations. 
The AIF can be found on SEDAR at sedar.com.
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Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and the 
Company’s Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial 
Officer have designed, or have caused to be designed under 
their supervision, disclosure controls and procedures to provide 
reasonable assurance that material information relating to the 
Company has been made known to them and that information 
required to be disclosed in the Company’s annual filings, interim 
filings or other reports filed by it or submitted by it under 
securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and 

reported within the time periods specified by applicable securities 
legislation. The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer 
and the Company’s Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief 
Financial Officer have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under 
their supervision, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures and have determined, based on that 
evaluation, that such disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective at the financial year-end. 

Internal control over financial reporting
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and the 
Company’s Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial 
Officer have designed, or have caused to be designed under their 
supervision, internal control over financial reporting as defined 
under National Instrument 52-109 — Certification of Disclosure 

in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with IFRS. The Company’s President and Chief 
Executive Officer and the Company’s Executive Vice President, 

Finance and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated, or caused 
to be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and have 
determined, based on the criteria established in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 
and on this evaluation, that such internal controls over financial 
reporting are effective at the financial year-end. 

Oversight role of Audit Committee and Board of Directors
The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s annual MD&A 
and related financial statements with management and the 
external auditors, and recommends their approval to the Board. 
Management and the internal auditor of the Company also 

present periodically to the committee a report of their assessment 
of the Company’s internal controls and procedures for financial 
reporting.

Changes in internal controls
During the period covered by this report, there have been no changes that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect Tembec’s internal control over financial reporting.

Additional information
Additional information relating to Tembec, including the Annual Information Form, can be found on SEDAR at sedar.com and on the 
Company’s website at tembec.com.
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Management Responsibility
The consolidated financial statements and all information in the Financial Report are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and, where necessary, include amounts, which are 
based on best estimates and judgement. Financial information presented throughout the Financial Report is consistent with the data 
presented in the consolidated financial statements.

A system of internal accounting and administrative controls is maintained by management in order to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are appropriately authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide accurate 
and reliable financial statements. 

The Company’s external auditors are responsible for auditing the consolidated financial statements and giving an opinion thereon.  
In addition, the Company employs internal auditors to evaluate the effectiveness of its systems, policies and procedures.

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, consisting solely of independent directors, which reviews the consolidated 
financial statements and recommends their approval to the Board of Directors. The Committee meets periodically with the external 
auditors, the internal auditors and management to review their respective activities and the discharge of each of their responsibilities. 
Both the external and internal auditors have direct access to the Committee to discuss the scope of their audit work and the adequacy 
of internal control systems and financial reporting procedures.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been audited by the external auditors, KPMG LLP, whose report follows.

    

 

JAMES M. LOPEZ MICHEL J. DUMAS 
President and Chief Executive Officer  Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

November 27, 2015
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Tembec Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Tembec Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets 
as at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, the consolidated statements of net earnings (loss), comprehensive earnings (loss), 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Tembec 
Inc. as at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
years then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

 
 

November 27, 2015 
Montreal, Canada

*CPA auditor, CA, public accounting permit no. A110592 
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Consolidated balance sheets
As at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

  2015  2014 

ASSETS
Current assets:   
  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 21  $ 39 
  Restricted cash    2   3 
  Trade and other receivables (note 19)    161   171 
  Income tax receivable    5   2 
  Inventories (note 5)    287   258 
  Prepaid expenses  9  10 

   485  483

Property, plant and equipment (note 6)   652  630 
Biological assets (note 7)  2  2
Employee future benefits (note 12)     29   25 
Other long-term receivables (note 8)  4  11 
Deferred tax assets (note 18)  4  4 

   $  1,176  $  1,155  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
  Operating bank loans (note 9)   $ 114 $ 87 
  Trade, other payables and accrued charges  188 212 
  Interest payable  13  12
  Provisions (note 11)   4  5
  Current portion of long-term debt (note 10)   11  17

  330  333

Long-term debt (note 10)  613  455
Provisions (note 11)   12  11
Employee future benefits (note 12)   149 135
Other long-term liabilities   1  2

  1,105  936

Shareholders’ equity:   
  Share capital (note 13)   568  568
  Deficit   (513)  (358)
  Accumulated other comprehensive earnings  16 9

   71  219

    $ 1,176 $ 1,155 

Guarantees, commitments and contingencies (see note 14) 
Subsequent event (see note 22)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
On behalf of the Board:

      

James V. Continenza James M. Lopez
Executive Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated statements of net earnings (loss)
Years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

 2015  2014

Sales $ 1,418  $ 1,491
Freight and other deductions 188  191 
Lumber export taxes 2  – 
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) (note 15) 1,102  1,141 
Selling, general and administrative (note 15) 59  66 
Share-based compensation (note 13) (3)  3 
Depreciation and amortization 43  37 
Other items (note 16) (4) (35) 

Operating earnings 31  88 

Interest, foreign exchange and other 54  33 
Loss on refinancing of long-term debt (note 10) 37  –
Foreign exchange loss on long-term debt 81  26

Net finance costs (note 17) 172  59 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes (141)  29

Income tax expense (note 18) 9  20

Net earnings (loss)  (150)  9 

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) in dollars per share (note 13) $ (1.50) $ 0.09

Consolidated statements of comprehensive earnings (loss)
Years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

 2015  2014

Net earnings (loss) $ (150) $ 9

Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of income taxes: 
  Items that will never be reclassified to earnings (loss):
    Defined benefit pension plans (note 12) (6)  (12)
    Other benefit plans (note 12) 1 (1) 

  (5)   (13)

  Item that may be reclassified to earnings (loss) in future periods:

    Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations  7   3

Other comprehensive earnings (loss)   2   (10)

Total comprehensive loss $ (148) $ (1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
Years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

  Translation   
 Share of foreign  Shareholders’ 
 capital operations Deficit equity

Balance – beginning of year, September 28, 2013 $ 567  $ 6  $  (354)  $ 219 

Net earnings – – 9 9
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of income taxes: 
  Defined benefit pension plans (note 12) – – (12) (12)
  Other benefit plans (note 12) –  –  (1)  (1) 
  Foreign currency translation differences  
    for foreign operations –  3  – 3
  Issue of warrants (note 13) 1  –  –  1 

Balance – end of year, September 27, 2014  568   9    (358)   219

Net loss – – (150) (150)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of income taxes: 
  Defined benefit pension plans (note 12) – – (6) (6)
  Other benefit plans (note 12) –  – 1  1
  Foreign currency translation differences  
    for foreign operations –  7 –  7

Balance – end of year, September 26, 2015 $ 568 $ 16 $ (513) $ 71

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of cash flows
Years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

 2015  2014 

Cash flows from operating activities:
  Net earnings (loss) $ (150) $ 9 
  Adjustments for:
    Depreciation and amortization 43  37 
    Net finance costs (note 17) 172  59 
    Income tax expense (note 18) 9  20 
    Income tax paid (10) (31)
    Excess cash contributions over employee future benefits expense (7) (20)
    Share-based compensation (note 13) (3) 3 
    Gain on settlement of non-recourse debt (note 16) (9) – 
    Impairment loss (note 16) 3  – 
    Gain on sale of assets (note 16) (1) (50)
    Settlement loss on pension plan (note 12 and 16) –  7 
    Other 6 4 

 53 38
Changes in non-cash working capital:  
  Trade and other receivables 3  (11)
  Inventories (29) (21)
  Prepaid expenses (2) (1)
  Trade, other payables and accrued charges (5) 17 

 (33) (16)

 20  22 

Cash flows from investing activities:  
  Disbursements for property, plant and equipment (66) (158)
  Proceeds from sale of net assets (note 16) 3  59 
  Change in restricted cash 1  (2)
  Other long-term receivables 4  – 

 (58) (101)

Cash flows from financing activities:  
  Change in operating bank loans 27  30 
  Increase in long-term debt (note 10) 419  67 
  Repayments of long-term debt (note 10) (349) (9)
  Debt prepayment penalty (note 10) (27) – 
  Interest paid (50) (45)

 20  43 

 (18) (36)
Foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies –  2 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (18) (34)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 39  73 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 21  $ 39 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated business segment information
Years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

      2015

 Forest Specialty  Paper   Consolidation 
 Products Cellulose Pulp Pulp Paper Corporate adjustments Consolidated

Sales:      
  External $  375  $  434  $  272 $  337  $      –  $     –  $  1,418
  Internal 63  2  30  –  9  (104)  –

 438  436  302 337  9  (104)  1,418

Freight and other deductions 43 43  60 42  – – 188 
Lumber export taxes 2  –  –  –  –  – 2
Cost of sales 370  355  225  247  9  (104) 1,102 
Selling, general and administrative 11  17  4  10  17  – 59
Share-based compensation (note 13) –  –  –  –  (3) – (3)

Earnings (loss) before the  
  following (adjusted EBITDA): 12 21  13 38  (14) – 70 
    Depreciation and amortization 5  22  11  4  1  – 43 
    Other items (note 16) –  –  –  –  (4) – (4) 

Operating earnings (loss) $      7  $    (1) $      2 $    34  $   (11) $     – $       31 

Additions to property, plant 
  and equipment $    13  $    35  $      5 $      4  $      –  $     –  $       57

Total assets $  159 $  683 $  147 $  163 $    24 $     – $  1,176

Total liabilities $    50 $  260 $    32 $    77 $  686 $     – $  1,105

      2014

 Forest Specialty  Paper   Consolidation 
 Products Cellulose Pulp Pulp Paper Corporate adjustments Consolidated

Sales:      
  External $   368 $   503  $  281  $  339  $      –  $     –  $  1,491
  Internal 64 –  29  –  15  (108)  –

 432  503  310 339  15  (108)  1,491

Freight and other deductions 41 44  60 46  – – 191 
Lumber export taxes –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Cost of sales 362  372  239  261  15  (108) 1,141 
Selling, general and administrative 12  20  5  11  18  – 66
Share-based compensation (note 13) –  –  –  –  3 – 3

Earnings (loss) before the  
  following (adjusted EBITDA): 17 67  6 21  (21) – 90 
    Depreciation and amortization 7  15  11  3  1  – 37 
    Other items (note 16) –  –  –  –  (35) – (35) 

Operating earnings (loss) $     10  $     52 $    (5) $    18  $    13 $     – $       88 

Additions to property, plant 
  and equipment $       8  $   135  $      4 $      4  $      –  $     –  $     151

Total assets $   164 $   656 $  142 $  144 $    49 $     – $  1,155

Total liabilities $     64 $   260 $    31 $     69 $  512 $     – $     936
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Consolidated geographic area information
Years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

     2015

 Forest Specialty    
 Products  Cellulose Pulp Paper Pulp Paper Consolidated

Sales (by final destination):     
  Canada $   192  $     36  $       1  $     57  $    286 
  United States 181  97  6  248  532 
  China –  10  130  –  140 
  European Union 2  199  51  10  262 
  Other –  92  84  22  198 

 $   375  $   434  $   272  $   337  $ 1,418  

     2014

 Forest Specialty    
 Products  Cellulose Pulp Paper Pulp Paper Consolidated

Sales (by final destination):      
  Canada $    183  $      44  $        –  $      58  $     285 
  United States 183  124  4  252  563 
  China –  24  115  –  139 
  European Union 2  238  56  9  305 
  Other –  73  106  20  199   

 $    368  $    503  $    281  $    339  $  1,491  

  2015 2014  

Property, plant and equipment:  
  Canada   $   525  $     509 
  France  125  120  
  United States  2  1  

  $   652  $     630  



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

56 Tembec Financial Report 2015

1. Reporting entity and nature of operations

Tembec Inc. is incorporated and domiciled in Canada and listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol TMB. The address of 
the registered office is 800 René-Lévesque Blvd. West, Suite 1050, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3B 1X9.

Tembec Inc. (the “Corporation”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Tembec” or the “Company”) operate an integrated forest products 
business, which is managed in four segments: 

• The Forest Products segment consists primarily of forest and sawmill operations, which produce lumber and building materials.

• The Specialty Cellulose Pulp segment consists primarily of manufacturing and marketing activities of specialty cellulose including the 
transformation and sale of resins and pulp by-products. A significant portion of chemical products sales are related to by-products 
generated by the two specialty cellulose pulp mills.

• The Paper Pulp segment includes the manufacturing and marketing activities of high-yield pulps.

• The Paper segment consists primarily of production and sales of coated bleached board and newsprint.

Intersegment transfers of wood chips, pulp and other services are recorded at transfer prices agreed to by the parties, which are 
intended to approximate fair market value. The basis of presentation and the accounting policies used in these business segments are 
the same as those described in notes 2 and 3.

The performance of each segment is evaluated by management of the Company against short-term and long-term financial objectives 
as well as environmental, safety and other key criteria. The financial performance is measured based on earnings before interest, income 
taxes, depreciation and amortization, and other specific or non-recurring items (adjusted EBITDA). This measure is included in the 
internal reports that are reviewed by senior management. Segment adjusted EBITDA is used to measure performance as management 
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating financial results relative to other entities that operate within similar 
businesses. Net finance costs and income tax are not allocated to operating segments.

2. Basis of presentation

Statement of compliance

These audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

These audited consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on November 19, 2015.

Basis of measurement

The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following significant items 
in the consolidated balance sheet:

• Employee future benefit assets and liabilities are recognized as the net of the fair value of the plan assets less the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation; 

• Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell;

• Site restoration and reforestation obligations are measured at the discounted value of expected future cash flows;

• Liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are measured in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment;

• Embedded and freestanding derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
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2. Basis of presentation (continued)

Functional and presentation currency

These audited consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
Management believes that the Canadian dollar best reflects the currency of the primary economic environment in which Tembec 
operates. All financial information presented has been rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise noted.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. At each reporting period, management assesses the basis of preparation of the financial 
statements. These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with IFRS. The going concern basis 
of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue its operations for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements include the identification of triggering events indicating that property, plant and equipment might be impaired. In determining 
these events, the Company considers several key assumptions based on external information on the industry (economic trends as well 
as industry and market trends), including selling prices, demand for our product, raw material costs and availabilities. The Company also 
considers decisions by management to change the extent or the manner an asset is used or is expected to be used.

Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements and that may result in material adjustments to the carrying amounts 
within the next fiscal year include the determination of the net realizable value of inventories (see note 5), provisions (see note 11), 
recoverability of deferred tax assets (see note 18), the measurement of defined benefit obligations and the valuation of pension plan 
assets (see note 12).

Other areas requiring the use of management estimates include the determination of the value of biological assets, financial instruments, 
guarantees, commitments, and contingencies. It also includes collectability of accounts receivable, estimating the useful life and residual 
value of property, plant and equipment, as well as assessing the recoverability of property, plant and equipment, and long-term receivables.
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3. Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

These audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company. Investments over which the Corporation has 
effective control are fully consolidated. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Company.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of each operation using exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to  
the functional currency using the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency using the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations with functional currencies other than the Canadian dollar are translated to Canadian 
dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars 
using the average exchange rates during the reporting period.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, 
the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to the statement of net earnings (loss) as part of the gain 
or loss on disposal.

Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables and long-term receivables are classified as loans and receivables, 
which is the Company’s only type of non-derivative financial asset. Operating bank loans, trade and other payables, interest payable, 
other long-term liabilities and long-term debt are classified as other liabilities, which is the Company’s only type of non-derivative 
financial liability.

The Company initially recognizes all financial assets and liabilities on the date that they are originated. Subsequent to initial recognition 
at fair value, the financial assets are accounted for on an amortized cost basis using the effective interest rate method. Subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs, the financial liabilities are accounted for on an amortized 
cost basis using the effective interest rate method.

Transaction costs incurred upon the issuance of debt instruments or modification of a financial liability are deducted from the financial 
liability and are amortized using the effective interest method over the expected life of the related liability.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments
The Company may manage, from time to time, its foreign exchange exposure on anticipated net cash inflows, principally US dollars and 
euros, through the use of options and forward contracts.

The Company may manage, from time to time, its exposure to commodity price risk associated with sales of lumber, pulp and newsprint 
through the use of cash-settled hedge (swap) contracts. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 
or speculative purposes.

The Company does not currently apply hedge accounting.

All derivatives are recognized initially at fair value. Attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein are accounted for in net finance costs.

Common shares
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares are recognized as  
a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Warrants
Warrants granted in connection with the second ranking term loan facilities have been issued as an equity-settled share-based payment 
transaction. Accordingly, they are classified as equity.

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents, as well as restricted cash, comprise cash in financial institutions, short-term deposits and highly liquid money 
market instruments with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are presented net 
of outstanding cheques.

Inventories

Finished goods, work-in-process, wood chips, logs, and other raw materials are valued at the lower of cost, determined on an average 
cost basis, and net realizable value. In the case of manufactured inventories and work-in-process, cost includes expenditure incurred 
in acquiring raw materials, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their existing location 
and conditions as well as an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. For all raw materials to 
be used in the production of finished goods, net realizable value is determined on an as-converted-to-finished-goods basis. Operating, 
maintenance and spare parts inventories are valued at lower of average cost and net realizable value.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, after deducting investment tax credits and government assistance, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to acquiring and bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 
use. The Company capitalizes borrowing costs, which are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, unless development activities on these qualifying assets are suspended, in which case borrowing costs are expensed.

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if 
it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.

The estimated useful lives of the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Assets  Period
Buildings  20 – 30 years

Production equipment:
  Pulp and paper  20 – 30 years
  Sawmill  10 – 15 years

Forest access roads  3 – 20 years

Assets under construction are recognized at cost and are not depreciated as the assets are not available for use. Repairs and maintenance 
as well as planned shutdown maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

Depreciation methods, remaining useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate.

Biological assets

Standing timber on privately held forest land that is managed for timber production is characterized as a biological asset. Accordingly, 
on each balance sheet date, the biological asset is valued at its fair value less costs to sell with any change therein, as a result of growth, 
harvest and change in valuation assumptions recognized in net income (loss) for the period. Standing timber is transferred to inventory 
at its fair value less costs to sell at the date the logs are removed from the forest. Land under standing timber is measured at cost and 
included in property, plant and equipment.
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3. Significant accounting policies  (continued)

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon 
initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to 
that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognized in the Company’s balance sheet.

Impairment

Financial assets (including receivables)
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
estimated reliably.

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each balance sheet date for any indication that the loss has decreased  
or no longer exists. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized in profit or loss.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than biological assets, inventories and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or the CGU. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs reduce the carrying amounts of the assets  
in the unit that is subject to the impairment test on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss recognized in prior periods is assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.

Environmental costs 
The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations enacted by federal, provincial, state and local authorities. Environmental 
expenditures that relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing 
condition caused by past operations and that are not expected to contribute to current or future operations are expensed. Liabilities are 
recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are likely, and when the costs, based on a specific plan of action in 
terms of the technology to be used and the extent of the corrective action required, can be reasonably estimated.

Reforestation
Forestry legislation in British Columbia requires the industry to assume the cost of reforestation on certain harvest licences. Accordingly, 
the Company records a liability for the costs of reforestation in the period in which the timber is harvested. In periods subsequent to the 
initial measurement, changes in the liability resulting from the passage of time and revisions to management’s estimates are recognized 
in net income as they occur.

Site restoration
In accordance with the Company’s published environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration  
in respect of contaminated land, and the related expense, is recognized when the land is contaminated.

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognized when the Company has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 
restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs and losses are recognized on the same 
basis as if they arose independently of the restructuring.

Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company from a contract are lower 
than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of 
the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of fulfilling the contract. Before a provision is established, the 
Company recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Contingent liability
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and of which the existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not within the control of the Company, or a present obligation 
that arises from past events (and therefore exists), but is not recognized because it is not probable that a transfer or use of assets, 
provision of services or any other transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be estimated reliably. 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

63Tembec Financial Report 2015

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Employee future benefits

Employee future benefits include pension plans and other benefit plans. Other benefit plans include post-employment life insurance 
programs, healthcare and dental care benefits as well as certain other long-term benefits provided to disabled employees.

Defined contribution pension plans
A defined contribution pension plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by 
employees.

Defined benefit pension plans
A defined benefit pension plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s net obligation 
in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value, of which the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated 
bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency 
in which the benefits are expected to be paid. The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 
credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of 
economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that apply to any plan 
in the Company. An economic benefit is available to the Company if it is realizable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the  
plan liabilities.

The Company recognizes the current service cost in the employee future benefit costs. Net interest cost on defined benefit pension 
plans is recognized in interest, foreign exchange and other. The actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit pension plans 
are recognized in other comprehensive earnings (loss) and recognized immediately in retained earnings without recycling to the 
consolidated statement of net earnings (loss).

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statement of net earnings (loss).

Other benefit plans
The Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value, and the fair value of the related assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds 
that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations. The calculation is performed using the projected  
unit credit method. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive earnings (loss) in the period  
in which they arise.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Other employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under the short-term incentive plan if the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based compensation transactions
The Company uses the fair value based approach of accounting for all share options granted to its employees, whereby a compensation 
expense is recognized over the vesting period of the options, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. The Company bases 
the accruals of compensation cost on the best available estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest and revises that 
estimate if subsequent information indicates that actual forfeitures are likely to differ from initial estimates. Any consideration paid by 
plan participants in the exercise of share options or purchase of shares is credited to share capital. The contributed surplus component 
of share-based compensation is transferred to share capital upon the issuance of common shares.

Deferred Share Units (DSU) are recognized in share-based compensation and accrued liabilities as they are earned. DSUs are remeasured 
at the end of each reporting period at fair value, until settlement.

Performance-Conditioned Share Units (PCSU) are recognized in share-based compensation and accrued liabilities when it is likely that 
the performance conditions attached to the unit will be met. Compensation cost is prorated based on the underlying service period and 
the liability is remeasured at the end of each reporting period at fair value, until settlement.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Company is committed demonstrably, without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognized 
as an expense if the Company has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the 
number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting period, then they are 
discounted to their present value.

Sales

Sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume 
rebates. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the 
discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognized.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Freight and other deductions

Freight associated with shipping products to customers and handling finished goods are included in freight and other deductions  
in the consolidated statement of net earnings (loss).

Investment tax credits and government assistance

Amounts received resulting from government assistance programs, including grants and investment tax credits for scientific research 
and experimental development, are reflected as a reduction of the cost of the asset or expense to which they relate at the time 
the eligible expenditure is incurred. Government financial assistance is recorded when there is reasonable assurance that the Company 
will comply with relevant conditions. Investment tax credits are recognized when the Company has made the qualifying expenditures 
and there is reasonable assurance that the credits will be realized.

Finance costs and finance income

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and the amortization of other related 
transaction costs. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses, gain or loss on embedded and freestanding derivative instruments, and interest on defined benefit 
plans are reported on a net basis as finance cost or finance income.

Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, with respect to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the 
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and associates to the extent 
that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be 
applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
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4. New standards

New standards and interpretation not yet adopted

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB released IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which establishes principles for reporting the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. It provides a single model 
in order to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognizes 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. IFRS 15 also requires more comprehensive disclosures about the 
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, and a number of revenue-related interpretations (IFRIC 13, 
Customer Loyalty Programs, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, 
and SIC-31, Revenue — Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Service). IFRS 15 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of this standard 
on its consolidated financial statements and does not plan to early adopt the new requirement.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9). IFRS 9 supersedes IAS 39, IFRIC 9 and earlier 
versions of IFRS 9 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. This standard 
provides guidance on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and the presentation of gains and losses on financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss. When an entity elects to measure a financial liability at fair value, gains or 
losses due to changes in the credit risk of the instrument must be recognized in other comprehensive income. The Company has not 
yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new standard will have on its financial statements and does not plan to early 
adopt the new requirement.

There are no other standards or amendments or interpretations of existing standards issued but not yet effective that are expected  
to have a material impact on our financial statements.
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5. Inventories

  2015  2014

Finished goods  $   140  $   117

Logs and wood chips  67  66

Supplies and materials  80  75

  $   287  $   258

Inventories carried at net realizable value  $     42  $     26

 
For the years ended in September 2015 and 2014, inventories recognized as an expense represent virtually all of the amounts 
included in cost of sales as well as depreciation and amortization. Inventories at September 26, 2015, were written down by $5 million  
(2014 — $4 million) to reflect net realizable value being lower than cost. The write-down and reversal, if any, are included in cost of sales.

The provision for net realizable values relating to logs and finished goods were as follows:

   2015  2014

Forest Products   $       2  $       1

Specialty Cellulose Pulp   2  2

Paper Pulp   1  1

Paper   –  –

   $       5 $        4
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6. Property, plant and equipment 

    Production equipment Forest  Assets
   Pulp and  access under 
 Land Buildings Paper Sawmill roads  construction Total

Cost       

Balance, September 28, 2013 $      3 $   63  $  392  $   71  $  11  $  189  $  729 

Additions –  –  –  –  –  151  151 

Transfers –  5  41  5  1  (52)  – 

Interest capitalized on  
  assets under construction –  –  –  –  –  18  18 

Disposals –  –  (54) (1) (1)  –  (56)

Effect of foreign currency translation –  – 2 –  –  – 2

Balance, September 27, 2014 3  68  381  75  11  306  844 

Additions –  –  –  –  –  57  57 

Transfers –  53  277  7  5  (342)   – 

Disposals – – (3) (1) – – (4)

Effect of foreign currency translation –  1 9 –  –  – 10

Balance, September 26, 2015 $      3  $ 122  $   664  $   81  $   16  $    21  $  907 

Depreciation       

Balance, September 28, 2013 $      –  $   21  $   154  $   56  $     2  $      –  $  233 

Depreciation –  4  27  5  1  –  37 

Disposals –  –  (54) (1)  (1)  –  (56)

Effect of foreign currency translation –  – – –  –  – –

Balance, September 27, 2014 –  25  127  60  2  –  214 

Depreciation –  5  34  3  1  –  43 

Disposals –  – (3) (1) – –  (4)

Effect of foreign currency translation –  –  2 –  –  –  2

Balance, September 26, 2015 $      –  $   30  $   160  $   62  $    3  $      –  $  255 

Carrying amounts       

At September 27, 2014 $      3  $   43  $   254  $   15  $    9 $  306  $  630 

At September 26, 2015 $      3  $   92  $   504  $   19  $  13  $    21  $  652 
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6. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

As at the end of September 2015, the Company had incurred $273 million of project expenditures for the upgrade of the specialty 
cellulose manufacturing facility in Temiscaming, Quebec. The boiler and turbine installation are complete and have been transferred 
from assets under construction to buildings and production equipment in the March 2015 quarter. For the year ended September 26, 
2015, the Company had additions to property, plant and equipment of $57 million (2014 — $151 million), of which $19 million  
(2014 — $117 million) was for the Temiscaming project.

The disposals in fiscal 2014 include an amount of $53 million, which relates to the sale of the pulp mill located in Chetwynd, BC, having 
a net book value of nil (see note 16).

7. Biological assets

The Company’s private timberlands are classified as a growing forest, with the standing timber defined and recognized as a biological 
asset at fair value less costs to sell at each reporting date, with the underlying land being considered a component of property, plant 
and equipment and recognized at cost.

  2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year   $   2  $   5 

Disposals    –  (3) 

Balance at end of year    $  2  $  2      

8. Other long-term receivables

  2015 2014

Loan receivable – Temlam Inc. (note 16)    $  –  $  7 

Other     4   4 

    $  4  $  11 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

70 Tembec Financial Report 2015

9. Operating bank loans

As at September 26, 2015, the Canadian operations were supported by a $175 million asset-based revolving credit facility (ABL).  

The facility has a first priority charge over the receivables and inventories of the Company’s Canadian operations. The amount of available 

liquidity fluctuates based on the level of receivables, inventories and other reserves as defined in the agreement. On June 26, 2014, the 

Company reached an agreement with existing ABL lenders to amend certain conditions and extend the maturity date by one year to March 2018. 

As at September 26, 2015, the amount available under the Canadian operating lines was $154 million of which $111 million was drawn and 

$33 million was reserved for letters of credit (2014 — $160 million of which $83 million was drawn and $56 million was reserved for letters 

of credit). Interest is calculated based either on the BA Rate, the LIBOR, the Canadian Prime Rate or the U.S. Base Rate, as the case may 

be, plus an applicable margin. The facility is subject to a permanent availability reserve of $15 million and a variable reserve, which totalled 

$2 million at the end of fiscal 2015. Subsequent to the end of the year, on November 18, 2015, the Company announced that it had entered 

into a new asset-based loan (see note 22).

The French operations are supported by “receivable factoring” agreements. As such, the borrowing base fluctuates periodically, depending 

on shipments and cash receipts. At the end of September 2015, the amount available was $26 million of which $3 million was drawn  

(2014 — $25 million of which $4 million was drawn).

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk and interest rate risk is disclosed in note 19.
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10. Long-term debt

   2015  2014 

Tembec Industries Inc.

   9% senior secured notes, US $375 million, due December 15, 2019 with  
semi-annual interest payments due June 15 and December 15 of each year    $   499  $       – 

 11.25% senior secured notes, US $305 million  –  340 

Tembec Energy LP 

   5.5% term loan, interest payable on a monthly basis, repayable in  
monthly instalments beginning in April 2016 and maturing in March 2028  75  75 

   5.5% term loan, interest payable on a monthly basis, repayable in  
monthly instalments beginning in April 2016 and maturing in March 2020  18  11 

   6.35% term loan, interest payable on a monthly basis, repayable in  
blended monthly instalments ending on June 15, 2022 with a balloon   
payment of $12 million on July 15, 2022  19  20 

   6.86% term loan, interest payable on a monthly basis, repayable in  
blended monthly instalments ending on September 15, 2022 with a  
balloon payment of $12 million on October 15, 2022  19  20 

Tembec Tartas SAS

   Secured term loans, € 1 million (2014 – € 3 million), bearing interest at  
EURIBOR plus 2%, repayable in quarterly instalments maturing in  
December 2017  2  4 

   Unsecured term loans, € 3 million (2014 – € 6 million), non-interest bearing,  
repayable and maturing at various dates from December 2015 to  
September 2020. The effective interest rate on these loans is 6%  5  8  

Kirkland Lake Engineered Wood Products Inc.  –  9

Tembec Inc.  –  2

Other  1  –

   638  489 

Less current portion   11  17  
Less unamortized financing costs   14  17 

   $   613  $   455 
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10. Long-term debt (continued)

On October 1, 2014, the Company completed a private debt offering of $419 million (US $375 million) — 9% senior secured notes due 
in December 2019. The proceeds from the offering were used to:

 (i) purchase and redeem all of the Company’s existing US $305 million — 11.25% senior secured notes due in December 2018, 
   as well as paying a prepayment penalty of US $24 million and accrued interest of US $10 million;
 (ii) repay $32 million of the operating bank loans; and
 (iii) pay fees and expenses of $8 million.

As a result of the redemption of the US $305 million — 11.25% senior notes, the Company recorded a charge of $37 million, including 
$27 million for debt prepayment penalty and $10 million related to the elimination of previously deferred financing costs.

The US $375 million — 9% senior secured notes are senior obligations secured by a first priority lien on the property and assets of  
Tembec Industries Inc. and the guarantors of the notes, with the exception of:

- receivables, inventory and certain intangibles upon which the note holders have a second priority lien; and
- the property and assets of Tembec Energy LP upon which the note holders have a third priority lien. 

The senior secured notes are guaranteed by the Corporation and most of its Canadian subsidiaries.

In connection with the specialty cellulose cogeneration project in Temiscaming, Quebec, the Company entered into a $75 million term 
loan facility, bearing interest at 5.5%. The loan has a 15½-year term consisting of a 42-month construction or drawdown period followed 
by a 12-year monthly amortization period. The term of the loan will be shortened by three years if the Company does not complete 
certain future capital expenditures at the Temiscaming specialty cellulose mill. The loan is secured by a second ranking charge on the 
project assets.

The Company entered into an additional term loan facility to borrow up to $18 million with the same lender, at an interest rate of 5.5%. 
The loan has a four-year term repayable in monthly instalments beginning in April 2016 and maturing in March 2020. The additional 
loan is secured by a second ranking charge on the project assets. During fiscal 2015, the Company received advances totalling $7 million 
(2014 — $11 million) on the additional term loan.

The Company entered into a $40 million term loan facility to assist with the financing of the specialty cellulose cogeneration project in 
Temiscaming, Quebec. The loan is secured by a first ranking charge on the project assets. On July 12, 2012, the Company received an 
advance of $20 million bearing interest at 6.35% repayable in blended monthly instalments over a period of eight years beginning in  
July 2014, with a “balloon” payment of $12 million to be repaid in July 2022.

On October 18, 2013, the Company received an advance of $20 million bearing interest at 6.86%, repayable in blended monthly instalments 
over a period of eight years beginning in November 2014 with a “balloon” payment of $12 million to be repaid in October 2022.

The total carrying value of assets pledged as collateral amounts to approximately $870 million.
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10. Long-term debt (continued)

During the March 2015 quarter, the Company effectively settled the long-term debt related to Kirkland Lake Engineered Wood Products Inc. 
The debt is secured by a charge against the Kirkland Lake, Ontario, finger-joint plant, which has been idle since 2008 (see note 16).

The Company’s credit agreements contain terms and conditions that could, in certain circumstances, restrict the ability of the Company 
to incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, to encumber or dispose of its assets or to make certain payments or distributions.

The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk, foreign currency, and interest rate risk is disclosed in note 19.

 
11. Provisions

 Site   Total 
 restoration  Reforestation  Other provisions

Balance, September 28, 2013 $    12  $   1  $     5  $   18 

Paid during the year (1)  –  –  (1) 

Sale of Chetwynd, BC, pulp mill (note 16) –  (1) –  (1)

Balance, September 27, 2014 11  –  5  16 

Provisions made during the year 1  –  –  1 

Paid during the year (1)  – –  (1)

Balance, September 26, 2015 $    11  $    –  $     5  $   16 

    

    

   2015 2014 

Current   $     4  $     5   

Non-current   12  11 

   $   16  $   16  

 
Site restoration

Land fill sites have a predetermined life and must be restored to their original condition at the end of their life. Because of the long-term 
nature of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. In particular, the 
Company has assumed that the land fill sites will be restored using technology and materials that are currently available. The Company 
has been provided with a range of reasonably possible outcomes of the total cost, reflecting different assumptions about changes in 
technology and pricing of the individual components of the cost.
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12. Employee future benefits

Defined contribution pension plans

The Company contributes to defined contribution pension plans, group registered retirement savings plans, and 401(k) plans.  
The pension expense of $6 million (2014 – $6 million) under these plans is equal to the Company’s contribution

Defined benefit pension plans

The Company has several defined benefit pension plans. Some of the defined benefit pension plans are contributory. Non-unionized 
employees in Canada joining the Company after January 1, 2000, participate in defined contribution pension plans. Beginning in  
fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2014 depending on the plan, all new unionized employees in Canada are also only participating in defined 
contribution pension plans. The pension expense and the obligation related to the defined benefit pension plans are actuarially 
determined using the projected unit credit method.

Other benefit plans

The Company offers post-employment life insurance, healthcare and dental care plans to some of its retirees. The Company offers other 
long-term benefits as healthcare and dental care plans to disabled employees. The Company also assumes other long-term benefits  
as life insurance coverage to some of its disabled employees.

The other benefit plans expenses and the obligations related to these plans are actuarially determined using management’s most 
probable assumptions. 

Actuarial valuations of these plans for accounting purposes are conducted on a triennial basis unless there are significant changes 
affecting the plans. The latest actuarial valuations were conducted either at July 1, 2013, May 1, 2014 or July 1, 2015.

The other benefit plans are unfunded.

Company contributions for defined benefit pension plans

Total cash payments for defined benefit pension plans consist of cash contributed by the Company to its funded pension plans and 
cash payments directly to beneficiaries for its unfunded benefit plans. The Company contributions were $17 million for fiscal 2015  
(2014 — $27 million). In fiscal 2016, the Company expects to contribute approximately $17 million to its defined benefit pension plans 
based on the last actuarial valuation for funding purposes.

Funding policy

The Company’s funding policy for registered defined benefit pension plans is to contribute annually the amount required to provide 
for benefits earned in the year and to fund past service obligations over periods not exceeding those permitted by the applicable 
regulatory authorities. Actuarial valuations for funding purposes are conducted on a triennial basis, unless required earlier by pension 
legislation or as deemed appropriate by management from time to time. The latest funding actuarial valuations were conducted for 
one plan on January 1, 2015, six plans on December 31, 2014, one plan on March 31, 2014, and six plans on December 31, 2013. 
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12. Employee future benefits (continued)

Investment policy, risk management practices and description of fund assets

The investments of the defined benefit pension plans are exposed to various risks including price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency 
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. In order to manage these risks, the Company follows a disciplined investment strategy, which provides 
diversification of investments by asset class, foreign currency, sector and company. The Corporate Governance and Human Resources 
Committee of the Board of Directors has approved an investment policy that establishes long-term asset mix targets based on a review 
of historical returns achieved by world-wide investment markets. Investment managers may deviate from these targets to the extent 
permitted by the investment policy. Their performance is evaluated in relation to the market performance on the target mix.

In light of the improved funding position of the pension plans, the Company adopted a plan to gradually reduce risks associated with 
some legacy pension plans. The plan consisted of transferring assets of these pension plans into 100% fixed income, which will better 
match the liabilities when the rate of return on bonds used for solvency valuations will fluctuate. This process was completed in the 
June 2014 quarter.

For all the other pension plans, the Company believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, a level of continuing equity 
investment is an appropriate element of the Company's long-term strategy to manage the plans efficiently.

Based on the fair value of assets held at September 26, 2015, the defined benefit pension plan assets were comprised of  
3% (3% in 2014) in cash and short-term investments, 5% (5% in 2014) in real estate, 53% (52% in 2014) in bonds and 39% (40% in 2014)  
in Canadian, U.S. and foreign equity.

The actual return on plan assets was $36 million for the year ended September 26, 2015, and $100 million for the year ended  
September 27, 2014.

The assets of the registered defined benefit pension plans are held by an independent trustee and accounted for separately in the 
Company’s pension funds. For the unfunded plans, the Company meets the benefits payment obligation as it falls due.

As at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, the assets of the plan do not directly include the Company’s own financial 
instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets issued by, the Company.
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12. Employee future benefits (continued)

Information about the Company’s defined benefit plans in aggregate

The following tables present the change in the defined benefit obligation for the defined benefit plans and the change in the fair value 
of plan assets:

Change in defined benefit obligations for defined benefit plans:

  Pension plans  Other benefit plans

 2015  2014  2015  2014 

Defined benefit obligation, at beginning of year $   843  $   816  $    29  $    29 

Current service cost 10  9  1  – 

Interest cost 34  36  1 1 

Actuarial loss (gain) 8  70 (1) 1 

Employee contributions 2  2  –  – 

Benefits paid (45) (44) (2) (2)

Past service costs 1  –  – – 

Settlement of BC plan – (55)  –  – 

Effect of foreign currency translation 26 9  –  – 

Defined benefit obligation, at end of year $   879  $   843  $    28  $    29

Change in fair value of plan assets for defined benefit plans:

  Pension plans  Other benefit plans

 2015  2014  2015  2014 

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets,  
  at beginning of year $   775  $   746  $      –  $       – 

Interest income 31  33  –  – 

Return on plan assets – excluding interest income 5  67 –  – 

Employer contributions 17  27  2  2 

Employee contributions 2  2  –  – 

Benefits paid (45) (44) (2) (2) 

Settlement of BC plan – (62)  –  – 

Administration expenses (2) (2)  –  –  

Effect of foreign currency translation 20 8  –  – 

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets,  
  at end of year $   803 $   775  $      –  $      – 
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12. Employee future benefits (continued)

In fiscal 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with an insurance company to settle a $55 million pension obligation of the 
BC plan for an amount of $62 million, which was equivalent to the amount of plan assets held in trust at time of the settlement. 

The following table presents the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the actuarially determined defined benefit obligation 
for defined benefit plans. This difference is also referred to as either the deficit or surplus, as the case may be, or the funded status  
of the plans.

Reconciliation of funded status for defined benefit pension plans:

    2015   2014 

Fair value of plan assets    $   803   $   775 

Defined benefit obligation, wholly or partially funded plans   (841)  (806) 

Plan deficit   (38)  (31) 

Defined benefit obligation, unfunded plans   (38)  (37)

Asset non-recognized due to asset ceiling    (9)   (5) 

Liability arising from minimum funding requirement     (7) (8) 

Net defined benefit liability   $   (92)  $    (81)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets for defined benefit plans:

      2015

       Other  
     Pension  benefit  
     plans   plans  Total 

Defined benefit asset     $     29  $       –  $      29 

Defined benefit liability    (121)  (28)  (149) 

Net defined benefit liability    $    (92)  $    (28)  $  (120) 

  2014

       Other  
     Pension  benefit  
     plans   plans  Total 

Defined benefit asset     $     25  $       –  $      25 

Defined benefit liability    (106)  (29)  (135) 

Net defined benefit liability    $    (81)  $   (29)  $  (110) 
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12. Employee future benefits (continued)

Components of benefit cost

The following tables present the impact on net earnings (loss) and other comprehensive earnings (loss) of the Company’s employee 
future benefits:

Recognized in net earnings (loss)

  Pension plans  Other benefit plans

 2015  2014  2015  2014  

Recognized costs for defined benefit plans:    

  Current service cost $     10  $     9  $   1  $  –   

  Administration expense 1  1  –  – 

  Total included in cost of sales 11  10  1  – 

  Settlement loss on BC plan (note 16)    –       7     –      – 

  Administration expense 1  1  –  –  

  Past service costs (note 16) 1 –  –  – 

  Total included in other items 2 8  –  –

  Interest cost 34  36  1  1 

  Interest income on plan assets (31) (33) –   – 

  Total included in net finance costs 3 3 1  1 

Total recognized costs for defined benefit plans 16  21  2 1

Recognized costs for defined contribution plans 6  6  –   – 

Total expense for employee future benefits $   22  $   27  $   2  $  1

Recognized in other comprehensive earnings (loss)

 Pension plans Other benefit plans

 2015  2014  2015  2014 

Actuarial gain (loss) – variation   
  in economic assumptions $ 1  $ (56)  $  –  $ (2) 

Actuarial loss – variation 
  in demographic assumptions (9)  (16)       –         – 

Actuarial gain – experience adjustments –  2        1         1 

Return on plan assets – excluding interest income  5  67        –         – 

Effect of limit on recognition of assets/  
  minimum funding requirement (3) (9) –  – 

Total remeasurement of the defined benefit liability  (6) (12)   1 (1)

Effect of foreign currency translation (6) (1) –  – 

Total defined benefit plans $ (12) $ (13) $   1 $ (1)
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12. Employee future benefits (continued)

Assumptions

The estimation of employee future benefits involves a high degree of judgment. The assumptions are reviewed annually with independent 
actuaries.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit pension obligation is 12.1 years (2014 — 12.2 years).

Significant assumptions for defined benefit pension plans (weighted average):

  2015 2014

Defined benefit obligation at end of year:   

  Discount rate  4.04% 4.03%

  Rate of compensation increase  2.50% 2.50%

Net periodic benefit cost for the year:   

  Discount rate  4.03% 4.60%

  Rate of compensation increase  2.50% 2.50%

Significant assumptions for other benefit plans (weighted average): 

  2015 2014

Defined benefit obligation at end of year:   

  Discount rate  3.62% 3.61%

  Rate of compensation increase  2.50% 2.50%

Net periodic benefit cost for the year:   

  Discount rate  3.61% 4.29%

  Rate of compensation increase  2.50% 2.50%

Assumed healthcare cost trend rate at end of year:   

  Initial healthcare cost trend  6.00% 6.00%

  Annual rate of decline in trend rate  0.50% 0.50%

  Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate  4.50% 4.50%

  Year ultimate rate is reached  2018 2017

Sensitivity analysis

The impact of a change in these assumptions on defined benefit obligations is as follows:

  1% increase 1% decrease

Defined benefit pension plans:   

  Discount rate  $   (99)  $   114 

Other benefit plans:   

  Discount rate  $     (2)  $       2 

  Healthcare cost trend rate  $      1   $      (1)
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13. Share capital

Authorized
Unlimited number of common voting shares, without par value.

Unlimited number of non-voting Class A preferred shares issuable in series without par value, with other attributes to be determined 
at time of issuance.

Warrants
In connection with the $75 million second ranking term loan facility (see note 10), the Company has granted the lender an option to 
acquire 3 million common shares of the Corporation at a price of $7 per share. The warrants expire on August 30, 2017.

In connection with the $18 million second ranking term loan facility (see note 10), the Company has granted the lender an option to acquire 
712,000 common shares of the Corporation at a price of $3.78 per share. The warrants expire on December 11, 2018.

Issued and fully paid

   2015 2014

100,000,000 common shares   $   564  $   564 

3,712,000 warrants (2014 – 3,712,000 warrants)   4  4 

   $   568  $   568 

Net earnings (loss) per share
The following table provides the reconciliation between basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share:

  2015  2014 

Net earnings (loss)  $  (150) $       9

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  100,000,000  100,000,000 

Dilutive effect of employee share options and warrants  –  – 

Weighted average number of diluted common  
  shares outstanding  100,000,000  100,000,000 

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) in dollars per share  $ (1.50) $  0.09

The warrants and employees share options had no dilutive effect for the above periods; however, these securities could potentially 
dilute earnings per share in future periods.
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13. Share capital (continued)

Shareholder Rights Plan
At the Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders held on January 31, 2013, the Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Plan”), which had 
been previously adopted by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Corporation, was approved and ratified by a majority of the 
Shareholders. The Plan is designed to encourage the fair treatment of the Company’s shareholders in the event of any take-over bid for 
the Company’s common shares. It provides the Board with sufficient time to assess and evaluate any unsolicited take-over bid, and to 
explore and develop, if appropriate, alternatives that enhance shareholder value and to give shareholders adequate time to consider any 
such transaction. Accordingly, as of the close of business on January 31, 2013, one right was issued and attached to each common share 
of the Corporation. Each right entitles the holder of the right to purchase from the Corporation an additional share of the Corporation 
subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

Share-based compensation
Under the prior Long-Term Incentive Plan, the Company had, from time to time, granted options to its employees. The plan provided 
for the issuance of common shares at an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s common shares on the date of the 
grant. These options vest over a five-year period and expire ten years from the date of issue. No options have been granted since 2006. 
No compensation expense was recorded for the years ended September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014.

The following table summarizes the changes in options outstanding and the impact on weighted average per share exercise price during 
the year:

  2015  2014

  Weighted  Weighted 
  average  average 
 Shares exercise price Shares exercise price

Balance, beginning of year 86,989  $   55.51  95,852  $   60.09

Options expired (40,365) $   83.77  (4,941) $ 137.89 

Options forfeited (1,540) $   63.73  (3,922) $   63.77 

Balance, end of year 45,084  $   29.93  86,989  $   55.51 

Exercisable, end of year 45,084  $   29.93   86,989  $   55.51 

There are 45,084 options outstanding as at September 26, 2015, which were granted in 2006. The weighted average per share exercise 
price is $29.93 and the weighted remaining contractual life of the options outstanding is 0.22 years.
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13. Share capital (continued)

Other share-based compensation
Directors of the Company, which are not employees of the Company, are given the option to receive part of their annual retainer, 
meeting fees and awards under the Directors’ Share Award Plan in the form of Deferred Share Units (DSU). Each DSU is equivalent 
in value to a common share of the Company and is notionally credited with dividends when shareholders receive dividends from the 
Company. A DSU is paid to a director upon termination of Board service and is payable in the form of cash.

The following table summarizes the grant of DSUs issued under the Directors’ Share Awards Plan:

  2015  2014 

Balance, beginning of year  1,833,319  1,119,836 

Granted  –  830,581 

Paid  –  (117,098)

Balance, end of year  1,833,319  1,833,319 

Vested, end of year  1,597,785  1,362,245 

On November 15, 2011, the Board approved the establishment of a Performance-Conditioned Share Unit (PCSU) plan. Under 
the PCSU plan, designated senior executives will be granted a specified number of DSUs or PCSUs annually, which vest over 
successive three-year periods, based on total shareholder return over the performance period as determined relative to a peer 
group and the increase in value of the Company’s weighted average share price over the performance period.

The following table summarizes the grant of DSUs issued under the Performance-Conditioned Share Unit Plan:

  2015  2014 

Balance, beginning of year  1,371,894  988,347 

Granted  529,664  557,808 

Expired  (272,083) – 
Forfeited  (19,827) (174,261)

Balance, end of year  1,609,648  1,371,894 

Vested, end of year  –  – 

The following table summarizes the details of share-based compensation expenses (credits) relating to its different share-based 
compensation plans:

  2015  2014 

Directors’ share award plan   $    (3)  $     3 

Performance-conditioned share unit plan   – – 

   $    (3)  $     3 

Total carrying amount of liabilities for cash-settled arrangements   $     3 $     6 
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14. Guarantees, commitments and contingencies

Guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have granted irrevocable letters of credit, issued by highly-rated financial institutions, to 
third parties to indemnify them in the event the Company does not perform its contractual obligations. The Company has not recorded 
any additional liability with respect to these guarantees, as the Company does not expect to make any payments in excess of what is 
recorded in the Company’s financial statements. The letters of credit mature at various dates in fiscal 2016.

Commitments

Operating leases
The Company has entered into operating leases for expected minimum lease payments of $7 million. Outflows for the years following 
September 26, 2015, are as follows:

2016 $ 4  

2017 $ 2  

2018 $ 1  

2019 and thereafter $ –    

Contingencies

The Company is party to claims and litigations arising in the normal course of operations. The Company does not expect that the 
resolution of these matters will have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, earnings or liquidity.
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15. Analysis of expenses by nature

 2015 2014

Wages and salaries $    197  $    208 

Employee benefits expense 87  85 

Raw materials and other manufacturing costs 887  919 

Changes in inventories (27) (21)

Selling, general and administrative 17  16 

Depreciation and amortization 43  37 

 $ 1,204  $ 1,244 

  

Cost of sales $ 1,102  $ 1,141

Selling, general and administrative 59  66 

Depreciation and amortization 43  37  

 $ 1,204  $ 1,244 

16. Other items

The following table provides a summary of the other items by business segment of the Company:

 2015 2014

Corporate:  

  Gain on settlement of a non-recourse debt $      (9) $        –  

  Costs for permanently idled facilities 2  5 

  Gain on sale of BC lands (1) (49)

  Impairment loss – Temlam loan receivable 3  –  

  Past service cost – defined benefit pension plan 1  –  

  Settlement loss on BC plans –   7 

  Reorganization – severance costs –   3 

  Gain on sale of assets –   (1) 

 $      (4) $     (35) 
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16. Other items (continued)

2015

During the March 2015 quarter, the Company recorded a gain of $9 million related to the substantial modifications to the terms of a 
non-recourse debt obligation with a provincial government. The debt relates to the Kirkland Lake, Ontario, finger-joint plant, which has 
been idle since 2008.

During fiscal 2015, the Company recorded a charge of $2 million relating to several permanently idled facilities. These costs relate  
to custodial, site security, legal, pension plans administration expenses and remediation activities.

During the December 2014 quarter, the Company completed the sale of a parcel of land in British Columbia (BC), realizing a gain of 
$1 million on total consideration of $2 million.

During the December 2014 quarter, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $3 million related to the loan receivable from Temlam Inc. 
The latter is currently under creditor protection and owned an idled laminated veneer lumber (LVL) facility located in Amos, Quebec. 
The Company reduced the carrying value of its loan receivable to reflect the total net proceeds to be received on completion of the 
sale, which occurred in January 2015.

During the December 2014 quarter, the Company negotiated a new collective agreement with the Temiscaming, Quebec, unionized 
workforce and recorded a charge of $1 million related to an increase of benefits allowed to the retirees of the pension plan.

2014

During fiscal 2014, the Company completed the sale of various parcels of BC land realizing a gain of $49 million on total consideration 
of $59 million.

During fiscal 2014, the Company recorded a charge of $5 million relating to several permanently idled facilities. The costs relate  
to custodial, site security, legal, pension plans administration expenses and remediation activities.

On March 10, 2014, the Company recorded a gain of $1 million relating to the sale of its pulp mill located in Chetwynd, BC, for a nominal 
amount and the assumption of certain liabilities by the buyer.

During the March 2014 quarter, the Company signed an agreement to settle the defined benefit obligations of its BC pension plan 
and incurred a non-cash settlement loss of $7 million. In relation with the settlement, the Company recorded a $4 million gain in other 
comprehensive earnings (loss) for previously unrecognized pension assets due to the asset ceiling limit.

During the December 2013 quarter, the Company reorganized certain management functions and roles and recorded a charge  
of $3 million for severance costs associated with personnel reductions.
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17. Net finance costs

 2015 2014

Interest on long-term debt $    52  $    46 

Interest on short-term debt 3  3 

Loss on refinancing of long-term debt (note 10) 37  –  

Bank charges and other financing expenses 3  3 

Net foreign exchange gain, excluding exchange on long-term debt (8) (5)

Foreign exchange loss on long-term debt 81  26 

Net interest cost on defined benefit plans 4  4 

Interest capitalized on assets under construction –   (18)

 $  172  $    59 

Finance costs $  180  $    64 

Finance income (8) (5)

Net finance costs $  172  $    59 

18. Income taxes

The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the statutory rate to the actual tax provision is as follows:

 2015 2014

Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ (141) $    29 

Income tax expense (recovery) based on combined federal and  
  provincial income tax rates of 26.2% $   (37) $      7 

Increase (decrease) resulting from:  

  Difference in statutory income tax rates 2  5 

  Non-deductible portion of foreign exchange loss on long-term debt 11  3 

  Permanent differences and other tax adjustments 3  (1)

  Unrecognized tax asset 30  6 

 46  13 

Income tax expense $      9  $    20 

Income taxes:  

  Current $      8   $     19 

  Deferred 1  1 

Income tax expense $      9  $     20 
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18. Income taxes (continued)

Unrecognized deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following:

 2015 2014

Deferred tax assets:   

Non-capital loss carry-forwards and pool of deductible  
  scientific research and development expenditures  $    425  $   413 

Property, plant and equipment  103  96 

Employee future benefits  35  31 

Capital loss carry-forwards  5  – 

Other  21  14 

  $    589  $   554 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the Company can utilize the benefits.

As at September 26, 2015, certain subsidiaries have accumulated the following losses and deductions for income tax purposes, which 
may be carried forward to reduce taxable income and taxes payable in future years:

 Amounts Expiring dates

Non-capital loss carried forward for:  

  Canadian subsidiaries $ 1,201   2025 to 2035

  U.S. subsidiaries $      20   2028 to 2034

Pool of deductible scientific research and experimental development $    381   Unlimited

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities

    Deferred tax  
 Deferred tax assets liabilities

 Non-capital Property, 
 loss carry- plant and Other 
 forwards equipment liabilities Total

Balance, September 28, 2013 $   8  $   1  $  (4) $   5 

Through statement of net earnings (loss) (2) –   1  (1)

Balance, September 27, 2014 6  1  (3) 4 

Through statement of net earnings (loss) (2) –   2  –  

Balance, September 26, 2015 $   4  $   1  $  (1) $   4 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

88 Tembec Financial Report 2015

19. Financial instruments

Fair value

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, operating bank loans, trade, other 
payables and accrued charges, and interest payable approximates their fair values because of the near-term maturity of those 
instruments. The carrying value of the long-term loans receivable and other financial long-term liabilities also approximates their  
fair values.

The carrying value and the fair value of long-term debt are as follows:

   2015  2014 

Carrying value   $   624  $   472 

Fair value   $   494 $   516 

The fair value of the senior secured notes was estimated using quoted market prices; the fair value of the other long-term debt was 
estimated based on discounted cash flows using year-end market yields of similar instruments having the same maturity.

Derivative financial instruments are the only financial instruments of the Company measured at fair value on a recurring basis and have 
been valued in accordance with Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, which is based on unadjusted quoted prices in an active market.  
The Company had no derivative financial instruments at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014.

Financial risk management

Overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

 – Foreign currency rate risk
 – Interest rate risk
 – Commodity price and operational risk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management policy.  
The policy defines the method by which the Company manages its risk through properly and prudently administering the Company’s 
financial assets, liabilities and derivatives. Internal Audit measures the adequacy of the business control systems through the execution 
of an Internal Audit Plan approved by the Audit Committee.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)

Exposure to credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that entities to which the Company sells products may experience financial difficulty and be unable 
to fulfill their contractual obligations. The Company does not have a significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty. 
As required in the Risk Management Policy, the Company reviews a new customer’s credit history before extending credit and conducts 
regular reviews of its existing customers’ credit performance. All credit limits are subject to evaluation and revision at any time based on 
changes in levels of creditworthiness and must be reviewed at least once per year. Sales orders cannot be processed unless a credit limit 
has been properly approved. The Company may require payment guarantees, such as letters of credit, or obtain credit insurance coverage. 
Bad debt expense has not been significant in the past. The allowance for doubtful accounts for the Company, as at September 26, 
2015 was negligible (September 27, 2014 — $1 million).

The Company also has credit risk relating to cash and cash equivalents. The Company manages risk by dealing only with highly-rated 
financial institutions.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was:

   2015  2014 

Loans and receivables, other than cash, cash equivalents  
  and restricted cash  $   164  $   182 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $     23  $     42 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade accounts receivable as at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, by geographical 
region was as follows:

 2015  2014 

Canada $     18  $     18 

United States 37  38 

European Union 40  37 

China 5  3 

Other 25  28 

 125  124 

Allowance for doubtful accounts –  (1) 

Trade receivables net 125  123 

Other receivables including input tax credits 36  48 

Accounts receivable $   161  $   171 
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19. Financial instruments (continued)
 
The aging of trade accounts receivable was as follows:

  2015  2014 

 Gross Allowance Gross Allowance

Not past due $    114  $       –  $    111  $        – 

Past due 0–30 days 10  –  10  – 

Past due over 30 days 1  –  3  1 

 $    125  $       –  $    124  $        1 

The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable in respect to trade accounts receivable was as follows:

   2015  2014 

Balance, beginning of year $       1  $       – 

Bad debt written off (1) – 

Allowance for doubtful accounts –  1 

Balance, end of year $       –  $       1 

Exposure to liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
has an objective of maintaining liquidity equal to 12 months of maintenance capital expenditures, interest and principal repayments, 
seasonal working capital requirements and general corporate purposes, which would require approximately $135 million to $150 million 
of liquidity.

Repayment of amounts due within one year is funded by normal collection of current trade accounts receivable. Liquidity in the form 
of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and unused revolving credit facilities is also maintained to assist in the solvency and financial 
flexibility of the Company. Liquidity as at September 26, 2015, totalled $56 million (September 27, 2014 — $84 million). Subsequent 
to the end of the year, on November 18, 2015, the Company announced that it had entered into a new asset-based loan. After giving 
effect to the refinancing, the Company’s total liquidity at November 18, 2015, was approximately $112 million (see note 22). While total 
liquidity remained below its objective, the lower ongoing capital expenditures as well as the projected incremental adjusted EBITDA of 
the Temiscaming Cogen will positively impact liquidity in future periods.

The Company’s liquidity is dependent on generating a sufficient amount of adjusted EBITDA and cash flow from operations. These can 
be significantly impacted by changes to the relative value of the Canadian dollar, product selling prices and the cost of inputs utilized 
in manufacturing processes. Based on existing liquidity and anticipated future operating cash flow, the Company believes that it will 
be able to adequately fund its operations and meet its future obligations as they become due. This determination could be impacted 
by economic, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors, as well as other events, that are beyond the Company’s control.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments:

       2015

 Carrying Contractual Year Years Years After 
 amount cash flows 1 2–3 4–5 5 years

Secured bank loans $   632 (1)  $    862  $    60  $    129  $    591  $    82 

Unsecured loans 6  6  4  2  –  – 

Operating bank loans 114  114  114  –  –  – 

Trade and others 201  201  201  –  –  – 

 $   953  $ 1,183  $  379  $    131  $    591  $    82  

(1) before financing costs

It is not expected that the cash outflows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or, excluding the effects of 
foreign exchange fluctuations on US dollar liabilities, at significantly different amounts.

Foreign currency rate risk management
The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and long-term debt that are denominated in a currency other than  
the Canadian dollar. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are US dollar and euro.

The Company’s revenues for most of its products are affected by fluctuations in the relative exchange rates of the Canadian dollar with 
respect to the US dollar and the euro. The Company generates approximately US $740 million of US dollar denominated sales annually 
from its Canadian operations. As a result, any decrease in the value of the US dollar and the euro relative to the Canadian dollar reduces 
the amount of revenues realized on sales in local currency. In addition, since business units purchase the majority of their production 
inputs in local currency, fluctuations in foreign exchange can significantly affect the unit’s relative cost position when compared  
to competing manufacturing sites in other currency jurisdictions.

To reduce the impact of fluctuations in the value of the US dollar, the Company has adopted a policy, which allows for hedging up  
to 50% of its anticipated US dollar receipts for up to 36 months in duration. As at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014,  
the Company did not hold any foreign exchange contracts.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency rate sensitivity analysis
The following table illustrates the impact of a 1% change in the value of the US dollar and the euro versus the Canadian dollar.  
For illustrative purposes, an increase of 1% in the value of the US dollar and the euro is assumed. A decrease would have the opposite 
effects of those shown below:

 US $ Euro  

Sales increase $     9 $     2  

Cost of sales increase 3 2  

Operating earnings and adjusted EBITDA increase 6 –  

Loss on translation of US dollar denominated debt 4 –  

Net earnings increase $     2 $     – 

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations increase – 2  

Total comprehensive earnings increase $     2 $     2  

Shareholders' equity increase $     2 $     2

Direct US dollar purchases of raw materials, supplies and services provided a partial offset to the impact on sales. This does not include 
the potential indirect impact of currency on the cost of items purchased in the local currency. Interest expense on the Company’s  
US dollar denominated debt provides a small offset to its US dollar exposure.

Interest rate risk management and sensitivity analysis
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.

Fluctuations of market interest rates have little impact on the Company’s financial results since the majority of the Company’s debts 
are fixed rate debts.

Commodity price and operational risk management
The Company’s financial performance is dependent on the selling prices of its products. The markets for most lumber, pulp and paper 
products are cyclical and are influenced by a variety of factors. These factors include periods of excess product supply due to industry 
capacity additions, periods of decreased demand due to weak general economic activity, inventory de-stocking by customers, and 
fluctuations in currency exchange rates. During periods of low prices, the Company is subject to reduced revenues and margins, resulting 
in substantial declines in profitability and possibly net losses. The Company may periodically purchase lumber, pulp and newsprint 
price derivative commodity contracts to mitigate the impact of price volatility. The Company had no derivative financial instruments  
at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014.

The manufacturing activities conducted by the Company’s operations are subject to a number of risks, including availability and price 
of fibre and competitive prices for purchased energy and raw materials. To mitigate the impact of price fluctuations, the Company may 
periodically purchase derivative commodity contracts. As at September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, the Company did not hold 
any significant derivative commodity contracts.
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20. Capital management

It is the Company’s objective to manage its capital to ensure adequate capital resources exist to support operations while maintaining its 
business growth. The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk of characteristics of the underlying assets.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of net debt to total capitalization ratio. Net debt is calculated as a total debt (long-term 
debt plus bank indebtedness and operating bank loans) less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Total capitalization includes net debt plus long-term provisions, employee future benefit liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, other long-
term liabilities, and shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s long-term objective is to maintain the net debt to total capitalization ratio at 40% or less. The net debt to total 
capitalization ratio of the Company was 76% as at September 26, 2015 (September 27, 2014 — 59%). The increase is due to a higher 
debt borrowed to finance the Temiscaming Cogen as well as the increase in the carrying amount of the long-term debt of $81 million 
due to foreign currency translation on outstanding US dollar denominated debt.

The Company anticipates that the net debt to total capitalization ratio will gradually decrease as the Temiscaming Cogen generates 
the projected incremental adjusted EBITDA. The Company should also benefit from the impact of a weaker Canadian dollar in terms 
of selling prices and competitiveness, gradually offsetting the negative impact of the previously noted translation losses on US dollar 
denominated debt.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during fiscal 2015.

 
21. Related parties

Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel of the Company are the members of the Board of Directors and certain executive officers. They control 
less than 1% of the voting shares of the Company.

Key management personnel participate in the Company’s long-term incentive plans (see note 13).

Key management personnel compensation is comprised of the following for the past two fiscal years:

  2015  2014 

Short-term compensation benefits $      3  $      4 

Share-based compensation (3) 3 

 $      –  $      7
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22. Subsequent event

On November 18, 2015, the Company announced that it had entered into a new asset-based loan (new ABL), which consists of a  
$150 million revolving credit facility (revolving loan) and a US $62 million “first-in, last out” term loan (FILO loan). The amount of 
available liquidity fluctuates based on the level of receivables, inventories and other reserves as defined in the agreement. Interest on 
the revolving loan is calculated based on the LIBOR plus an applicable margin. Interest on the FILO loan is calculated based on the 
LIBOR plus 7.25% subject to a 1.0% LIBOR floor. The new ABL replaced the Company’s existing $175 million ABL revolving credit facility.

The revolving loan will expire on November 18, 2020, provided several conditions are met, including repayment of the FILO loan prior 
to March 2, 2018, failing which the maturity would be accelerated to an earlier date, but not earlier than March 2, 2018. The revolving 
loan has a first priority charge over the receivables and inventories of the Company’s Canadian and U.S. operations. The FILO loan is 
secured by the same collateral as the revolving loan and ranks second in repayment priority relative to the revolving loan. The FILO loan 
is also secured by a first priority charge on the fixed assets of one of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries.

The Company utilized borrowings under the new ABL to repay the amounts outstanding under the prior ABL revolving credit facility 
and pay transaction fees and expenses. After giving effect to the refinancing, the Company’s total liquidity at November 18, 2015, was 
approximately $112 million, compared to $56 million at the end of fiscal 2015.
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Shareholder Information
Stock exchange listing
The common shares of Tembec Inc. are listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange under the symbol TMB. 

Number of shares
As at September 26, 2015, there were 100,000,000 Tembec 
common shares outstanding.

Transfer agent and registrar
Our transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company of Canada, 
can assist you with a variety of shareholder related services, 
including changes of address and lost share certificates.

Computershare Trust Company of Canada
Customer Service
1500 University Street
Suite 700
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3S8 
Canada
Tel.: 1 800 564-6253

Annual general meeting
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Tembec Inc. will 
be held on Thursday, January 28, 2016, at 11:00 a.m., Eastern 
time, at:

Fairmont The Queen Elizabeth
Saint-François Room
900 René-Lévesque Blvd West 
Montreal, Quebec H3B 4A5
Canada
Tel.: 514 861-3511  

An archived version of the webcast of the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders will be available on Tembec’s website after the 
Meeting.

Additional information may be obtained from:
Tembec Inc.
Communications and Public Affairs Department
10 Gatineau Road
P.O. Box 5000
Temiscaming, Quebec J0Z 3R0 
Canada
Tel.: 819 627-4387
Fax: 819 627-1178
Email: info@tembec.com
Website: tembec.com

Tembec files all mandatory information with Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities and this information is available from 
Tembec upon request.

Head office
Tembec Inc.
800 René-Lévesque Blvd West
Suite 1050
Montreal, Quebec H3B 1X9 
Canada
Tel.: 514 871-0137
Fax: 514 397-0896

Corporate offices
Tembec Inc.
405 The West Mall 
Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M9C 5J1
Canada
Tel.: 416 775-2856
Fax: 416 621-3119

Tembec Inc.
10 Gatineau Road
P.O. Box 5000
Temiscaming, Quebec J0Z 3R0 
Canada
Tel.: 819 627-4387
Fax: 819 627-1178

Additional copies of the following documents and other 
information can also be obtained at the above address or on 
Tembec’s and SEDAR’s websites.

• 2015 Financial Report 
• Quarterly Reports
• Management Information Circular
• Annual Information Form  

Pour obtenir un exemplaire de la version française du rapport 
financier, veuillez vous adresser au Service des communications 
et des affaires publiques.
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2015
Sustainability Report
Summary 

Tembec continues to demonstrate its commitment to sustainability 
by focusing on maintaining responsible business practices that are 
harmonized with social and environmental values, with principle 
focus on: 
• Health and safety for its employees;
•  Environmental Responsibility and  

Sustainable Forest Management;
• Engagement with stakeholders.

The 2015 Sustainability Report is available at:
tembec.com/sr2015



1 | Health and Safety – All Tembec Operations 
Nothing is more important to Tembec than ensuring the health and safety of its employees, and employees are one of the most 
important stakeholder groups. 

Indicator 2013 2014 2015

Total OSHA Incident Rate 2.6 2.5 2.5

Total Severity Rate 70.7 83.5 62.5

Percentage of total workforce represented in formal  
joint management-worker health and safety committees

Over 75%

Percentage of employees covered by collective  
bargaining agreements

 75% 76% 75%

2 | Environmental Responsibility and Sustainable Forest Management 
Tembec recognizes its social obligation to demonstrate environmental leadership for the benefit of local communities and the community 
at large. As a company that works with renewable resources, Tembec is committed to demonstrating responsible stewardship of those 
resources to ensure a sound future. Tembec strives to continually improve its environmental performance as described in the 2015 
Sustainability Report. 

Reporting on sustainable forest management is vital to demonstrating corporate social responsibility. This topic is at the core of 
Tembec’s business model, and is a key concern for many Aboriginal groups as well as external stakeholders such as customers, investors 
and ENGOs. Tembec is proud of the fact that as of the end of fiscal 2015, 8.7 million hectares of Tembec managed lands and 7.6 million 
hectares of Tembec partner lands have been certified by FSC®. Tembec’s pulp and paper facilities and sawmills have FSC® Chain of 
custody certification and manufacture FSC® certified products.

3 | Engagement with Stakeholders and Aboriginal People 
Tembec’s engagement approach is based on the desire to work collaboratively with groups and individuals who have rights and 
interests on forest lands on which Tembec operates, and who live in proximity to our facilities. Based on the importance of stewardship, 
and access and use of forest lands by both the Company and Aboriginal People, Tembec supports the development of long-term 
relationships that are beneficial to Aboriginal communities, the Company and the public. Tembec also engages extensively with other 
key stakeholders: employees, labor unions, customers, municipalities, suppliers, trade associations and non-government organizations.
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